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Demir-Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V. – hereafter referred 
to as DHB Bank – was established as a Turkish-owned 
commercial bank under Dutch law in 1992. Headquar-
tered in Rotterdam with a balance sheet size of EUR 
1,913.9 million as of year-end 2010, the bank conducts 
its activities through locations in The Netherlands, 
Germany, Belgium and Istanbul, and in Macedonia via 
Export & Credit Bank Inc., Skopje (EC Bank), for whose 
66.56% stake in this subsidiary DHB Bank signed a 
share purchase agreement with Türkiye Halk Bankası 
A.Ş. at the last quarter of 2010.

HCBG Holding B.V. holds 70% of DHB Bank’s shares, while 
the remaining 30% are owned by Türkiye Halk Bankası 
A.Ş. HCBG Holding B.V., whose principal business activity 
is to act as a financial holding company, is 100% owned 
by Dr. Halit Cıngıllıoğlu. In addition to his indirect invest-
ment in DHB Bank, Dr. 
Cıngıllıoğlu has a direct 
interest in Demir Kyr-
gyz International Bank 
OJSC as well. Türkiye 
Halk Bankası A.Ş. is the 
seventh largest bank in 
Turkey; its main share-
holder is the Turkish 
State with a 75% stake 
while the remaining 
25% is free float.

Funding its operations predominantly via retail deposits 
collected mainly in The Netherlands, Germany, and Bel-
gium, DHB Bank’s investment interests predominantly lie 
in wholesale lending activities in Turkey and Europe, along-
side a renewed investment appetite for the Common-
wealth of Independent States (CIS), with customers rang-
ing from financial institutions, corporates and sovereigns.

Bank Profile  
and Financial Highlights

DHB Bank’s Ba2 long-term bank deposits credit rating by 
Moody’s Investor Services was affirmed in November 2009 
with a stable outlook.

“Funding its operations predominantly 
via retail deposits collected mainly in The 

Netherlands, Germany, and Belgium, DHB 
Bank’s investment interests lie in wholesale 

lending activities”



05

Consolidated* 2010 2009

  (EUR 000) (EUR 000)

Total assets 1,913,851 2,026,449

Loans and receivables – banks 878,542 594,653

Loans and receivables – customers 337,937 636,847

Deposits from customers 1,408,622 1,746,924

Total equity 194,040 197,836

Net interest income 30,902 23,551

Net fee and commission income 8,929 13,226

Net profit 3,962 8,715

Solvency ratio (%) 13.42 12.50

Number of employees 431 437

Number of locations 27 27

 
*  The 2010 financial statements of DHB Bank consolidated with EC Bank are released for the first time on IFRS basis, with 2009 

figures being restated along the same standards.

 AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n BAnk pRofile & finAnciAl HigHligHts 
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Report of the 
Supervisory Board 
We are pleased to present the financial statements 
of DHB Bank for the year ending December 31, 2010. 
These financial statements were prepared by the Man-
aging Board, and have been audited by KPMG Account-
ants N.V. Their unqualified report is attached to the an-
nual accounts.

We propose to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
to adopt the financial statements for 2010 and the appropri-
ation of the financial result. Pursuant to Article 20, paragraph 
4 of the Articles of Association of the bank, your approval will 
discharge the Managing Board from liability with respect to 
its management of the bank’s activities, and the Supervisory 
Board regarding its supervision thereof.

During the course of the year, the Dutch Central Bank (DNB) 
required the banks operating in The Netherlands to adhere 
in due course to new higher solvency requirements. Subse-
quently the Managing Board presented to the Supervisory 
Board a strategic alignment for the bank’s activities and in-
vestments, which was approved by the Supervisory Board in 
the 3rd quarter of 2010. DHB Bank has in the meantime start-
ed to adapt its operations to these new strategies, however 
a major portion of its activities during 2010 was conducted 

in line with its operating guidelines that were devised in re-
sponse to the 2008 crisis: namely with emphasis on high sol-
vency, on high liquidity, and on solid asset quality within the 
context of a moderate and acceptable profit target. During 
2011, the Supervisory Board will continue its oversight on 
the basis of sound working risk parameters, including strong 
solvency and liquidity levels in compliance with new regula-
tory requirements, and along the lines of the bank’s strategic 
alignment.

During the year under review, the Supervisory Board met 
regularly with the Managing Board. The main matters dis-
cussed included the regulatory environment, economic 
and financial developments in the bank’s markets of opera-
tions, together with bank specific subjects, as extensively 
covered in the management reports as well as in the re-
ports of the internal and external auditors. The meetings 
of the Board’s Risk & Audit Committee were regularly at-
tended alongside its respective members by the Manag-
ing Board members, by the Chief Internal Auditor and by 
a representative of the external auditor, KPMG Accountants 
N.V. Together with financial reporting, internal audit, in-
ternal control systems and risk management policies and 
practices, other subjects regularly reviewed included credit 

From left to right: Drs. Jan Th. Groosmuller, Mr. Hans J. Ph. Risch, Mr. Mehmet Emin Özcan, Mr. Theodoor Joseph Bark,  
Mr. İsmail Hasan Akçakayalıoğlu, Dr. Nurzahit Keskin
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risk, and corporate governance and its applications, as stip-
ulated in the Dutch Banking Code.

The Supervisory Board, the Risk and Audit Committee and 
the Remuneration and Compensation Committee, where 
applicable, closely monitored compliance with regula-
tory changes throughout the year. In addition, and in close 
communication with the Managing Board, the Board and 
its Committees continued their initiatives to ensure full and 
timely implementation of the Dutch Banking Code in the 
bank in both text and spirit. New corporate governance 
policies were drawn up and existing ones were strength-
ened and updated, while Compliance Department streng-
htened policies in relation to prevention of conflicts of 
interest. Subsequently a Related Party Transaction Commit-
tee was established within the Board.

Dr. Halit Cıngıllıoğlu, who has served as the Chairman of 
DHB Bank’s Supervisory Board since almost the bank’s es-
tablishment, decided to retire from his position as of De-
cember 17, 2010.  It was an honor and privilege to have Dr. 
Cıngıllıoğlu as Chairman throughout all this time; we would 
like to sincerely thank him and express our gratitude for the 
invaluable guidance he has offered and for the priceless sup-
port he has shown towards our bank during his tenure.

Mr. Theo J. Bark, a proficient banker with long years of 
experience in the international banking sector and with 
extensive services in the Supervisory Board of DHB Bank, 
assumed the position of Chairman.

Mr. Hasan Cebeci retired from the Vice-Chairman position 
of DHB Bank’s Supervisory Board as of May 31, 2010. We 
would like to thank him for the valuable input he provided 
during his tenure in the Board, and specifically for the sup-
port of Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş. subsequent to the 2008 
global financial crisis.

Mr. Mehmet Emin Özcan, an experienced banker and for-
mer member of DHB Bank’s Supervisory Board, rejoined the 
Board on June 1, 2010 representing Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş.

As of December 23, 2010, Mr. Okan Beygo, Supervisory 
Board member since August, 2008, retired from his posi-
tion in the Board, and on this occasion we would like to ex-
press our sincere appreciation for the contributions made 
by him during his term of office.

In the meantime the Supervisory Board has identified suc-

cessors to the vacant Supervisory Board positions, and ap-
pointments will be made subject to DNB’s approval, which 
is expected shortly.

Mr. Selçuk Şaldırak, who served in the Managing Board 
as Senior General Manager since November 19, 2007, re-
signed from his position as of October 2010, at the end of 
his contract. Mr. Şaldırak has competently led the bank for 
the last three years during which period financial institu-
tions worldwide experienced unprecedented difficult 
times. We thank him for his contributions and wish him 
well in his future endeavors.

Mr. Kayhan Acardağ, General Manager of DHB Bank with 
over 30 years solid and successful banking experience, took 
over the vacant Senior General Manager’s position. Having 
held various executive positions at DHB Bank since March 
1993, shortly after the bank’s establishment, Mr. Acardağ has 
extensive experience in the Dutch banking sector, as well 
as in-depth knowledge on DHB Bank’s activities and opera-
tions. We wish him every success in his new assignment.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank our share-
holders for resolving to retain the entire 2010 profit in the 
equity of the bank, which will once again further strength-
en and support DHB Bank’s operations.

Last but not least, we wish to express our appreciation and 
gratitude for the dedication and commitment shown by 
management and staff during the year 2010.

Rotterdam, March 31, 2011

Theodoor Joseph Bark (Chairman since December 17, 2010)

Mehmet Emin Özcan (Since June 1, 2010)

Dr. Nurzahit Keskin
Drs. Jan Th. Groosmuller
İsmail Hasan Akçakayalıoğlu
Hans J.Ph. Risch
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Report of the 
Managing Board 
oveRview And HigHligHts

For approximately the last 10 years, DHB Bank has success-
fully conducted its international commercial banking activ-
ities and operations based on a general business model of 
retail funding versus wholesale asset generation. Excluding 
a negligible portion of corporate deposits, retail deposits 
are collected from Belgium, Germany, and The Netherlands 
primarily via the internet and call center channels support-
ed by regional main branches in these countries alongside 
local branches in The Netherlands, while wholesale asset 
generation activities are centralized at the Head Office in 
Rotterdam. DHB Bank also has a representative office in Is-
tanbul as a direct liaison location for its interests in Turkey. 
Wholesale asset generation activities comprise primarily 
placements in the form of trade related bank syndications, 
discounting of trade related bank promissory notes, bi-
lateral commercial or trade related bank loans, structured 
trade finance and trade related or commercial corporate 
placements, securities investments, and to a lesser extent, 
consumer loans. Alongside the liabilities side, geographical 
diversity is also an essential feature of DHB Bank’s activities 
on the assets side, encom-
passing primarily Western 
Europe, Turkey, and the Com-
monwealth of Independent 
States (CIS).

During the first three quarters 
of 2010, DHB Bank continued 
its operations parallel to the 
strategies that it had devised 
as a measure against the 2008 
crisis and that it continued to 
apply during the subsequent period, namely the mainte-
nance of high liquidity, of good asset quality and of strong 
capital, which were guiding principles that were success-
fully implemented during the past two years, and which al-
lowed the bank to weather the turbulent times unharmed, 

resulting in an inevitable comparatively reduced profitabil-
ity. Alongside as a measure against the financial crisis, DHB 
Bank also continued to follow these policies as a prepara-
tion to expected changes in the regulatory environment 
particularly in relation to solvency/capital requirements. 
Despite the still relatively volatile aspect of the financial 
markets, though to a comparatively lesser degree, uncer-
tainties related to regulatory requirements were largely 
reduced in the last quarter of 2010, following which DHB 
Bank started to implement a strategic alignment process, 
whose key framework related to the re-adjustment of the 
bank’s asset composition and its investment profile. Con-
sequently, the bank instigated a more active placement 
policy to further expand its geographical coverage at the 
expense of Turkey exposures, and re-defined its client base 
with a targeted increase in corporate placements on a wid-
er geography versus lesser bank placements.

Another essential characteristic of these strategic align-
ment endeavours is a planned reduction in the asset size, 

backed by intentional de-
crease in saving deposits and 
proportional increase in time 
deposits. The management is 
of the opinion that the cur-
rent balance sheet size of the 
bank is for the time-being 
more or less at an optimum 
level under current market 
and regulatory conditions 
given DHB Bank’s business 
profile.  

The shareholders HCBG Holding B.V. and Türkiye Halk 
Bankası A.Ş. (Halkbank) have once again demonstrated 
their support to the bank. In line with their traditional com-
mitment since DHB Bank’s establishment in 1992, they 

“DHB Bank is 
deeply committed to 

the preservation of the 
bank’s integrity and 
reputation [...]”
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again retained the whole 2009 profit in the equity, as they 
similarly resolved to do for the 2010 profit. Additionally, 
Halkbank and DHB Bank signed in 2008 a liquidity contin-
gency agreement in order to build up a supplementary 
buffer to weather any very severe deterioration in the mar-
kets, which allowed the latter to an immediate cash sup-
port from Halkbank. This agreement was renewed in Janu-
ary 2011, for EUR 100 million and for an additional period 
of 18 months.

In terms of financial reporting, for the first time in 2010 
the bank released its financial statements in International 
Financial Reporting Standards (EU-IFRS) as adopted by the 
EU, and accordingly restated its 2009 financial figures along 
the same principles. This restatement had some implica-
tions for a few balance sheet items, as explained in the ‘Fi-
nancial Review’ section.  

DHB Bank is deeply committed to the preservation of the 
bank’s integrity and reputation, alongside compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations, and within these working 
guidelines, internal governance structure together with its 
respective policies and practices were further developed 
and expanded, as explained below.

coRpoRAte goveRnAnce & 
BAnking code

Corporate governance has become one of the top priori-
ties of corporations in general and financial institutions in 
particular over the past couple of years, due to which regu-
lators have put additional accent on respective practices as 
well as to restore confidence among market participants 
and stakeholders after the recent global crises. The new 
Banking Code that entered into effect in The Netherlands 
on January 1, 2010 also articulates additional responsibili-
ties within this context, of which DHB Bank strives to fully 
comply with.

Within this context, DHB Bank has identified the gaps be-
tween its existing applications and the new Banking Code, 
and launched a program with an aim to fully comply with 
the new regulations in due course. Accordingly the bank 
has updated its respective policies and applications, while 

some related initiatives are under further development, all 
in line with the new Banking Code’s principles, as elabo-
rated below: 

  The operational engagements for both the Superviso-
ry Board and the Managing Board are being reviewed 
with regard to the composition and expertise require-
ments as well as tasks and working practices in line 
with the Banking Code. The requirements from the 
Banking Code have been drafted into the Supervisory 
Board Policy and the Managing Board Policy.

  All the Managing Board members signed the moral and 
ethical conduct declaration, which is published on the 
website of the bank. The Code of Conduct applicable to 
all the employees of DHB Bank as a guideline for their 
actions is being updated following the signing of the 
afore-mentioned declaration.

  While a permanent learning program for 2011 is still un-
der development, training sessions have already been 
provided in 2010 to the Supervisory and Managing 
Board members.

  The risk appetite policy of DHB Bank has been estab-
lished in line with the Banking Code requirements.

  A Product Approval Process has been described for 
DHB Bank, comprising extensive testing in relation to 
aspects of the duty of customer care and own risk man-
agement.

  In their meeting of December 2009, the Supervisory 
Board approved the establishment of a Risk & Audit 
Committee in replacement of the existing Audit Com-
mittee. All risk management related agenda items to be 
discussed in the Supervisory Board meetings are pre-
pared by this committee from 2010 onwards.

  The charter for the Audit Committee has been replaced 
by the Risk & Audit Committee Charter.

  The Internal Audit Charter and the Compliance Charter 
were also updated along the requirements of the Bank-
ing Code.
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  During the Risk & Audit Committee meeting held in the 
first quarter of 2010, the overall risk policy of DHB Bank 
reflecting the bank’s risk appetite has been discussed at 
length, and has been approved in the subsequent Su-
pervisory Board meeting.

  The Internal Audit Department has included in their 
yearly audit plan the assessment of the quality and ef-
fectiveness of the system of governance and risk man-
agement as a regular audit area.

  From the Supervisory Board members, a new Remunera-
tion & Compensation Committee has been established. 

  The Remuneration Policy is adopted to ensure that the 
current remunerations of the Supervisory and Manag-
ing Board members are in line with the Banking Code 
requirements. Further adjustments are under progress 
with regards to the respective policies while relevant 
practices are also subject to further review.

More initiatives to apply the Banking Code have already 
been developed and relevant policies have been drafted, 
and some initiatives are under development such as the 
lifelong learning program for 2011 for the members of the 
Supervisory Board and Managing Board.

In addition to the Supervisory Board’s annual self-evalua-
tion at the end of 2010, the functioning of the Supervisory 
Board will also be evaluated by independent supervision 
once every three years. The involvement of each member 
of the Supervisory Board and the relationship between the 
Supervisory Board and the Managing Board will be part of 
this evaluation.

DHB Bank has a firm commitment towards compliance 
with regulations and the above steps taken were in line 
with the current best practices for applying the Banking 
Code in the course of the year. The bank also values the 
Dutch Corporate Governance Code, and pursues initiatives 
to execute recommendations prescribed therewith in its 
respective guidelines; accordingly, DHB Bank aims to have 
a Supervisory Board comprised of members whose half of 
them, including the Chairman, are independent from the 
shareholders. As a first step, Dr. Halit Cıngıllıoğlu, beneficial 
owner of DHB Bank’s majority shares, resigned from his 

Chairman position as of December 17, 2010, in line with a 
particular recommendation which prescribes rotation eve-
ry 12 years for supervisory positions.

In terms of compliance, DHB Bank further reinforced its 
processes and applications as follows, some of which at the 
beginning of 2011:

  Customer Due Diligence procedures were further 
strengthened.

  The Policy on Conflicts of Interest was implemented, 
which also incorporates procedures on the approval of 
related party transactions. In conjunction, Related Party 
Transactions Committee was established within the Su-
pervisory Board.

  The independence of the Compliance Officer has been 
strengthened. Currently there is a direct reporting line 
between the Compliance Officer and the Risk & Audit 
Committee, and again between the Compliance Officer 
and Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

  An Awareness Program has been put into force for the 
aim of keeping all DHB Bank staff informed against in-
tegrity risk and potential reputational harms.

econoMic And RegulAtoRy 
enviRonMent

Both in the world and in the markets of DHB Bank, meas-
ures that were introduced by many governments started to 
gradually show their positive effects in terms of economic 
activities and recovery, although there is still some way to 
attain pre-crisis levels as evidenced by signs of volatility in 
some of DHB Bank’s markets, particularly in the peripher-
ies of the Euro zone. On the other hand, uncertainties in 
the regulatory environment in the Dutch banking environ-
ment are largely reduced, setting the ground for DHB Bank 
to re-align its activities and investment profile.

From an economic perspective, the bank’s assets and liabili-
ties were affected by diverging forces. 
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In the assets, the primary market of DHB Bank, Turkey, per-
formed remarkably well as anticipated by the management, 
contributing positively to the results. This in turn started to 
translate itself in reduced margins in this country, which in-
evitably prompted the bank to evaluate and explore new 
markets from an investment perspective. In this context, CIS 
countries present themselves as potential targets, also tak-
ing into account the experience 
of the bank in those countries as 
well as positive economic devel-
opments therewith. In contrast, 
the extreme volatility in some 
securities investments that were 
undertaken in the peripheries 
of the Euro zone as a liquidity 
management tool had negative 
implication for the fair value re-
serve in the equity of the bank, 
although in the longer term this effect is expected to be an-
nulled within the maturities of the respective securities. 

In the liabilities, the funding cost of the bank overwhelm-
ingly based on offered deposit rates, despite being in line 
with market rates, continued to remain relatively high in 
relation to investment yields, which are based on money 
market rates that were at their historical low during 2010. 

From a regulatory perspective, aside the new Dutch Bank-
ing Code’s stipulations related to corporate governance 
and compliance functions as elaborated above, De Ned-
erlandsche Bank N.V. (the Dutch Central Bank – DNB) re-
leased in the second half of 2010 a new regulatory policy 
that determines new capital requirements in relation to 
exposures in general to emerging countries for banks op-
erating in The Netherlands, and which ultimately calls for 
Dutch banks to maintain more capital in comparison to Ba-
sel II guidelines depending largely on the level and nature 
of their exposures above a certain threshold to such coun-
tries. As a preparation to this anticipated new solvency 
regulation, DHB Bank had continued during the first three 
quarters of 2010 to maintain high liquidity including ECB 
eligible securities, refrained from long-term placements, 
preferred short-term investments in its niche market Turkey 
in order to preserved its high capital base. 

DNB also introduced new rules effective as from December 

31, 2010 related to ‘large item rule’, a regulation that deter-
mines the limitation on total exposures to customers on 
inter-related group level. 

Following these clarifications, DHB Bank developed a stra-
tegic alignment process that will be its working guideline 
from end 2010 and onwards from a mainly investment 

perspective, as elaborated under 
the below sections.

The tight regulatory liquidity 
requirements of DNB are still in 
place, and DHB Bank accordingly 
continued to maintain relatively 
high liquidity levels such as cash, 
balances with ECB and ECB eligi-
ble securities. From an economic 
liquidity management perspec-

tive, DHB Bank primarily invested in short-tem bank syndica-
tions and bank promissory notes, which have the additional 
benefit of being traded in the secondary markets.

stRAtegic AlignMent

The afore-mentioned DNB policy defines the parameters 
that would indirectly guide DHB Bank’s lending activities 
and its resulting country exposures for an effective capital 
management. Accordingly, the bank has determined its 
priority activities, investment profile and working guide-
lines for the years to come.

With the general aim of maintaining the current balance 
sheet size and retail funding base, while also having in the 
agenda the option of benefitting from occasional whole-
sale funding potentials such as repo transactions with 
relatively smaller amounts, DHB Bank is in the process of 
adapting its asset composition.

While cash and balances with central banks, and ECB eligi-
ble securities will continue to represent the main pillars of 
liquidity management, the main target is to further diver-
sify the geographical coverage of the bank at the expense 
of Turkey. Although the bank had already expanded its 
respective coverage during the years 2000 with the inclu-

“DHB Bank had 
continued during the 
first three quarters of 

2010 to maintain high 
liquidity[...] ”
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sion of mainly CIS countries in its investment profile, fol-
lowing the 2008 crisis it had shifted its asset composition 
again towards Turkey, its primary and niche market, which 
has proven successful in protecting the asset quality. This 
course of action is now being reversed with targets of re-
ducing Turkey exposure and increasing placements initially 
and progressively in the CIS, with mainly Russia, Azerbaijan, 
Kazakhstan, and Ukraine as core countries in the region. In 
addition, further diversification into Central, Eastern and 
South-Eastern European markets will be explored, among 
which Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Macedonia, Alba-
nia, and Bulgaria have been initially determined as prospec-
tive new potentials. Targeted customers will be in general 
mainly state banks and state corporates, regional banks 
whose majority shares are owned by strong international 
banks, while cooperation with private but leading banks 
and corporates in their countries and/or sectors, along with 
multinational banks, will also be evaluated in line with DHB 
Bank’s customary stringent risk assessment, limit establish-
ment and monitoring processes and parallel to its risk & re-
turn criteria. As a general principle, all the targeted custom-
ers in the bank’s current and potential new markets will be 
banks and corporates with high credit credentials. 

Shift from exposures to banks towards exposures to non-
banks is also intended in terms of customer profile dur-
ing 2011 and beyond, including plans of working with 
corporates in Western European countries - Germany, Bel-
gium, and The Netherlands and with corporates of Turkish 
origin but operating outside Turkey. Despite the intended 
shift from Turkey, however, depending on market circum-
stances DHB Bank is not intending to completely withdraw 
from the country in which the management has extensive 
knowledge and experience coupled with very good track 
record. . Within this framework and together with its con-
ventional activities, cooperation with corporates having 
(trade) receivables from abroad, or placements to Turkish 
companies in local currency will also be targeted. For diver-
sification purposes, consumer lending activities, which cur-
rently occupy a small portion of DHB Bank’s assets, will be 
continued through the business unit in Belgium.

finAnciAl Review

The 2010 financial statements of DHB Bank are prepared for 
the first time in EU-IFRS, as opposed to the Dutch GAAP up 
until 2009; the 2009 financial figures are restated accordingly 
along the same standards. The consolidated 2010 balance 
sheet of DHB Bank also incorporates the financials of its sub-
sidiary Export & Credit Bank Inc., Skopje (EC Bank), which oc-
cupies a relatively small portion overall in terms of size with an 
approximate EUR 134 million asset size. As an important devel-
opment in this area, DHB Bank and Halkbank signed a share 
purchase agreement on November 26, 2010 with respect to 
DHB Bank’s aggregate 66.56% participation in EC Bank. Re-
spective regulatory approvals for the sale & purchase have 
been obtained at the beginning of 2011 and the transaction is 
expected to be fully finalized within a short period of time, as 
a result of which DHB Bank’s succeeding financial statements 
will not incorporate EC Bank any longer from 2011. For the 
sake of convenience, explanations in this section are made for 
consolidated figures, unless stated otherwise. 

The bank closed the year with EUR 1,913.9 million in assets, 
representing a EUR 112.6 million decrease compared with 
the previous year on a consolidated basis. Despite the rather 
high capital base of the bank, the main rationale behind fur-
ther reducing the balance sheet size was the management’s 
low risk appetite with the aim of further strengthening the 
capital ratio while maintaining high liquidity as a prepara-
tion for the new regulatory framework in relation to capital 
requirements as described by DNB in the second half of 
2010. Again parallel to these new rules, the current size of 
DHB Bank (excluding EC Bank) represents more or less an op-
timum level under current conditions and there are no plans 
of further reduction at present, apart from possible fluctua-
tions related to the comparatively small wholesale funding 
base in the form of repo, which is not considered by the 
management as a long-term and constant funding source. 

The decrease in the balance sheet size was achieved by sig-
nificantly and intentionally reducing deposits from custom-
ers for reaching the targeted balance sheet size, a move 
that was initiated during the last quarter of 2009. In the 
same context, the bank also carried out sub-branch closure 
operations in Belgium as explained under the ‘Bank Opera-
tions’ section, which brought about also efficiency benefits.
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The bank’s own resources have traditionally been at very 
comfortable levels, with strong loss absorption capacity, 
and the same was valid for 2010. Thanks also to the share-
holders’ resolution to retain the whole 2009 profit in the 
equity to support DHB Bank’s activities, the shareholders’ 
equity stood at EUR 194 million as of December 31, 2010, 
which corresponds to 10.1% of total equity and liabilities, 
and out of which EUR 1.7 million is attributable to minority 
interests. This amount represents a EUR 3.8 million decrease 
compared with the restated 2009 EUR 197.8 million level. 
The main cause behind this development were the impli-
cations of EU-IFRS principles in relation to the valuation 
of some securities that were booked as ‘available for sale’, 
namely the negative mark-to-market valuation of some 
investments in sovereign securities of Euro zone periph-
eral countries, as booked under the ‘fair value reserve’ item. 
These valuations are subject to fluctuations that normally 
would be progressively eliminated over time while the 
corresponding placements approach their respective ma-
turities. Moreover, these effects do not affect the capital ad-
equacy of DHB Bank, as they are not deducted from Tier 1 
capital in the calculation of the solvency according to Basel 
II. Accordingly, with a still high year-end 2010 13.2% Tier 1 
ratio, the capital adequacy of DHB Bank is adequately com-
pliant with Basel II in 2010. The bank also started to further 
adjust its asset mix at the end of 2010 parallel to the new 
solvency requirements. DHB Bank is utilizing the standard-
ized approach under Pillar 1. The internal capital adequacy 
assessment process under Pillar 2 is further developed and 
renewed at the last quarter of 2010. In terms of financial 
transparency, additional disclosures are published on the 
web site of DHB Bank along the lines of Pillar 3. 

Deposits from customers, the highest liabilities item whose 
overwhelming proportion consists of retail deposits, was 
reduced on purpose by EUR 338.3 million in 2010 paral-
lel to the aim of reducing the balance sheet size. This item 
represents 81.9% of non-equity liabilities with EUR 1,408.6 
million versus EUR 1,746.9 million in 2009. 

‘Due to banks’ item consists of short-term repo deals whose 
underlying transactions are securities. With EUR 163.8 mil-
lion, they represent 9.5% of non-equity liabilities as a very 
short-term funding source.  
A major part of the EUR 3.1 million provision amount cor-
responds to an onerous rental contract in relation to the 
rent obligations of closed branch in London. Other book-
ings under this item are regular future obligations such as 
pensions, and reorganization provision. The EUR 2.6 million 
decrease in this item is primarily a combination of a pay-
ment made to the Deposit Guarantee Fund in relation to 
the failure of DSB Bank and Icesave, an Icelandic bank, an 
increase in rental contracts obligations and a minor reduc-
tion related to EC Bank.   

The distribution of DHB Bank’s assets reflects its diversified 
base in terms of geography and product range. Setting 
aside non-interest bearing assets, on a standalone basis, 
59.0% of the bank’s assets originated from Turkey, 10.4% 
from Russia, 5.5% from the USA and the majority of the re-
maining 25.1% from Western Europe. It is the aim of DHB 
Bank to have a more diversified geographical composition 
in the future, with a decline in Turkey exposures.

The EUR 26.8 million cash item primarily consists of over-
night placements with the European Central Bank (ECB) 
alongside cash at branches. However, the immediately 
available liquidity of DHB Bank is quite higher, and exclud-
ing EC Bank, the immediately available liquidity of DHB 
Bank as of year-end 2010 continued to be maintained at 
15.4% of the balance sheet, which was in aggregate EUR 
274.6 million including the year-end available ECB eligible 
securities after haircuts alongside the available liquidity in 
the form of the contingent liquidity line from Halkbank, 
short-term money market placements to counterparts and 
funds maintained with correspondent bank accounts. 

The ‘loans and receivables – banks’ item represented an im-
portant portion of DHB Bank’s assets at the end of 2010, 

2009 2010
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with a figure of EUR 878.5 million, or 45.9% of the balance 
sheet (2009: EUR 594.7 million at 29.3%). The respective in-
crease is the outcome both of the preference of DHB Bank 
to invest in short-term bank placements during a major 
part of the year and of the afore-mentioned credit expan-
sion that initially started with bank counterparts in the cur-
rent and target markets of the bank. This amount does not 
include bank placements in the form of securities that are 
booked under the securities item in the balance sheet. In 
terms of products, the banks item consists mainly of trade 
related bank placements in the form of syndicated term 
loan facilities and bilateral bank loans, the discounting of 
bills of exchange and promissory notes, the financing of let-
ters of credit as well as money market placements at neg-
ligible amounts; all of these also contributed to the flexible 
maturity structure of the assets thanks either to their short 
term or their marketable nature in the secondary markets. 
Out of the total banks item, EUR 396.6 million was mainly 
in the form of trade related syndication participations, EUR 
135 million trade related draft discounts while the remain-
der consisted of money market and similar placements.

The ‘loans and receivables – customers’ item, which include 
corporate and retail loans, showed a decrease of EUR 298.9 
million between 2009 and 2010. A majority of this item ac-
counts for either bilateral corporate loans or participations 
in the syndications of non-bank corporate customers, with 
EUR 337.9 million in total including minor retail loans. The 
decrease is related to DHB Bank’s conservative risk appe-
tite until the clarification of new solvency rules as well as to 
prepayments made by some borrowers before the original 
maturities of the transactions; collections made on maturi-
ties (and respective prepayments) were preferred to be ini-
tially channeled towards bank placements thanks to their 
relatively short-term nature and the marketable charac-

teristics of these assets in the secondary market, thus their 
liquid structure. With the clarification of new capital regula-
tions, the bank resumed credit expansion again with banks 
in new markets, but intends also to increase its corporate 
loan volumes progressively in the long run at the expense 
of bank volumes. DHB Bank had discontinued granting re-
tail loans on a funded basis to its customers in 2009, which 
is represented with a relatively small EUR 40.2 million in the 
balance sheet as of year-end 2010 on a standalone basis, 
nevertheless this business line is aimed to be revived on a 
funded basis as well.

Securities investments showed an increase of EUR 23.1 mil-
lion, coming to EUR 508.7 million at the end of 2010 com-
pared with EUR 485.7 million in 2009. This 26.6% share of 
securities in the total balance sheet is the continuation of 
a management decision in 2009 to channel a portion of 
the bank’s immediately available liquidity into ECB eligible 
securities. ECB eligible securities, which are issued under 
the guarantee of European governments or issued by mini-
mum A- rated institutions, corresponded to 51.4% of the 
securities, while 3.2% related to Turkish sovereign exposure 
and the majority of the remainder to CIS banks. 

As per IFRS 5, EC Bank’s figures are now reported in the 
balance sheet under the ‘assets held for sale’ and ‘liabilities 
held for sale’ items, representing 100% of EC Bank’s balance 
sheet with EUR 133.6 million. These entries will be can-
celled in 2011 following the completion of the sale of DHB 
Banks’ shares in the bank.  

Net interest income showed an increase of EUR 7.3 mil-
lion in the year under review, reaching EUR 30.9 million in 
2010 compared with EUR 23.6 million in 2009. The main 
driver behind this increase was the decline in the interest 
expense item being greater than the decline in the inter-
est income item. The decrease in interest expense was due 
to the lowering of the level of customer deposits as well 
as reductions in the bank’s offered rates for these products, 
which are the main components of this item. Decrease in 
interest income occurred as a result of a couple of factors, 
such as reduction in the asset size, early or timely closures 
of high yielding investments from the past and the man-
agement’s preference of channeling the respective collec-
tions towards lower yielding short-term and relatively less 
risky bank assets in line with a low risk appetite.  

2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010
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The net commission income level declined by EUR 4.3 mil-
lion in 2010, closing the year with EUR 8.9 million. Com-
mission income consists of primarily upfront fees received 
in relation to syndicated facilities, including fees related 
to their sale at a profit, and of banking services mainly in 
the form of remittance services and brokerage fees for 
insurance intermediation. The relatively low commission 
expense item mainly represents fees related to banking 
services received in the course of daily operations. The 
reason behind the decrease in the income side is primarily 
declining fees received from the afore-mentioned syndi-
cated facilities, which itself is the result of decreasing yields 
in the markets of DHB Bank, as well as reduced volume of 
remittance transactions, all consequences of the general 
economic downturn.   

As per EU-IFRS, the result on financial transactions mainly 
represents i) the result of mark-to-market valuation of de-
rivative transactions, namely CDSs, interest rate swaps and 
FX swaps and ii) the net interest cost of swap transactions, 
the latter of which used to be reported under interest 
items under Dutch GAAP. As such, these are not related to 
positions taken on some asset types for trading purposes 
as the bank does not keep a trading book. 

Although staff costs maintained more or less their level 
of 2009, savings are expected in this expense item in the 
years to come, as some portion of these costs is related to 
one-off severance payments related to redundancies dur-
ing the year. Other administrative expenses shrank by EUR 
3.1 million, a majority of which is attributable to the posi-
tive effects cost cutting measures undertaken during the 
prior years in the organizational structure of the bank.  
Net impairment charge returned a positive result of EUR 

1.1 million, representing releases of some provisions fol-
lowing some restructurings and collections. The additional 
general precautionary provisions that were set aside for 
potential risks in the bank’s portfolio in addition to specific 
provisions in 2008 were sufficient to cover expected future 
impairments, and DHB Bank did not incur significant non-
performing loans (NPLs) in its loan portfolio either during 
2010. As of year-end 2010, total NPLs (defined as bank, 
corporate, retail and sovereign loans for which any of the 
principal, installment or interest receivables are 90 days 
overdue) over the bank’s total loans portfolio stood at gross 
0.91% with a 63.7% coverage ratio on a stand-alone basis, 
excluding collaterals. 

Amidst a negative 2010 result from its subsidiary EC Bank, 
DHB Bank’s consolidated 2010 income statement again re-
ported this year a moderate pre-tax profit of EUR 5.7 mil-
lion, an outcome of precautionary risk-averse policies that 
were implemented in a post-crisis period during which the 
bank devised its strategic alignment roadmap while eco-
nomic stability still remained to be attained. 

BAnk opeRAtions

Two major developments at DHB Bank during 2010 from 
an operational perspective and on an organizational level 
were the continuation of implementing cost efficiency 
measures and the sale of EC Bank, among others. 

DHB Bank strives to attain a more efficient working model 
by making better use of developments in IT and internet 
banking, the latter of which has become an industry stand-
ard on a general basis particularly in the retail deposits and 
retail transactions field. As a result, although DHB Bank will 
carry on its operations through local branches in The Neth-
erlands, and main branches in Germany and Belgium along 
with a representative office in Istanbul, in order to achieve 
further cost efficiency, two sub-branches and one small 
business unit in Belgium were also closed during 2010. An 
important factor behind this move was also the discon-
tinuation of remittance services in this country. DHB Bank 
now caters to its customers in Belgium through its Brussels 
main branch and three local retail loan offices in Antwerp, 
Liege and Charleroi. 
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Another component of cost base reduction endeavors 
were staff reduction along with reorganizational processes 
marked by the implementation of task centralizations and 
work-flow standardizations. Along with branch closures, 
some operations and work-flows were enhanced at the 
head office, which is anticipated to yield direct and indirect 
cost savings for the bank in the years ahead.  

As a commercial bank registered as a joint stock company 
under the laws of FYR Macedonia, the 66.56% shares of EC 
Bank were acquired in 2008. DHB Bank supported the bank 
with its experience and know-how in various areas, includ-
ing risk management applications, reporting systems, organ-
izational enhancements, internal control and compliance 
functions improvements, but refrained from robust expan-
sion and growth in the bank parallel to the management’s 
prudent approach and restrictive lending policies due to 
market conditions resulting from the global financial crisis. 
DHB Bank and its shareholder Halkbank signed a share pur-
chase agreement on November 26, 2010 with respect to 
DHB Bank’s whole participation in EC Bank, a transaction that 
is expected to be completed within a short period of time as 
regulatory approvals have been already obtained.

Despite sub-branch closures in Belgium, DHB Bank central-
ized in Brussels main branch its “Turkije Hypotheek” opera-
tions, a particular mortgage product for the residents of 
European Union member countries for their residential 
purchases in Turkey. Also centralized in Belgium, the grant-
ing of funded-based consumer loans, which are fully in-
sured against credit risk, resumed gradually.

Similarly in line with developments in IT and internet bank-
ing applications, DHB Bank discontinued cash transactions 
on deposits via branches in Belgium, as was already the 
practice in Germany.

The bank also further improved the organizational and op-
erational support functions of IT and Research and Project 
Development (RPD) departments with new applications, 
along with developments in process control and reporting 
functions. Applications in the bank’s internet banking plat-
form titled NetBanking are further developed, and it is now 
possible to open time deposits via internet also in Belgium, 
while again in the same line the infrastructure is ready for 
the recently developed but not yet offered floating interest 

rate time deposits. Process management-wise, customer 
due diligence applications and review procedures were 
upgraded and updates related to payment systems such as 
SEPA were completed.

Particularly in IT, the MIS reporting architecture was im-
proved with the implementation of new versions of the 
reporting software, resulting in a more manageable and 
development infrastructure. As for the security of server 
and end-user systems in IT, the respective functionality is 
further improved by revising privileges and by introducing 
automated patch management systems.   

In the context of the wider information security system, the 
Business Continuity Plan (BCP) for unforeseen events such 
as disaster scenarios has been improved, re-evaluated and 
re-tested successfully in 2010 with active user involvement 
in order to maintain a certain level of services while restor-
ing normal business operations.

Stichting Bewaarfonds, a foundation established in 2006 as 
a separate legal entity, continued to provide custody ser-
vices to the bank’s customers on a small scale. 

wHolesAle Business

On the assets side, wholesale banking is the foremost in-
vestment activity and revenue generation type for DHB 
Bank. Conducted by the Corporate Marketing, Financial 
Institutions & Forfaiting and Treasury departments, the pri-
mary customers of the bank in this context are banks, cor-
porates and sovereigns. Parallel to its strategic alignment, 
as explained under the corresponding section of this re-
port, the bank revised and redefined its target customers 
in its current, new and potential markets, while sovereign 
exposures will be taken on a limited extent as a liquidity 
management tool.

The main product types in this segment will continue to 
be trade-related & commercial bilateral bank loans and 
syndications, promissory notes discounts, to a lesser extent 
letters of credit financings, securitizations of banks, securi-
ties of banks and corporates, secured or unsecured bilateral 
loans to corporates. The geographical spectrum comprises 
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Central, Eastern and South-Eastern European countries, 
CIS and Turkey, alongside securities investments to corpo-
rates, banks and sovereigns, and short-term money market 
placements in the EU and 
USA with a view to man-
age the bank’s extra liquid-
ity. Parallel to its business 
model, the bank refrains 
from engaging in deriva-
tive products or in expo-
sures to institutions active 
in this business line, with 
the exception of FX swaps 
for USD and Turkish lira 
funding, interest rate swaps 
and credit default swaps for hedging purposes.

During the first three quarters of 2010, DHB Bank gave 
momentum to lending activities both in the primary and 
in the secondary market for bank syndicated loans, prefer-
ring to conduct this business line on a selective basis and 
restricted solely to Turkey with maturities shorter than one 
year in general. The bank participated indirectly or pur-
chased from the secondary market syndicated facilities for 
a total of EUR 756 million (excluding sales) compared with 
EUR 232 million in 2009. Bilateral bank loans mainly in the 
form of trade-related promissory note discounts and bank 
loans again solely for top Turkish banks were continued 
throughout 2010 and – excluding sales – reached a volume 
of EUR 364 million. At the end of 2010, exposures in the 
form of syndications and bank loans resumed in the new 
markets of the bank apart from Turkey. During the year, im-
mediate liquidity was mainly kept as overnight placements 
with ECB, while money market placements with counter-
parts were kept at comparatively negligible levels.

Secondary market loans sale activities of bank syndications 
and promissory notes conducted by the Financial Institu-
tions & Forfaiting Department within a wholesale frame-
work contributed positively to the bank’s profits in 2010.

In accordance with the bank’s restrictive corporate lend-
ing policies during a major part of 2010, newly granted 
corporate loans represented a volume of EUR 248.4 million. 
Renewed (rolled-over) loans made up EUR 222.1 million, a 
majority of which consisted of very short-term corporate 

loans in Turkish Lira denomination. Parallel to the bank’s 
new strategies, and with a thrust given at the end of the 
year which continued at the beginning of 2011, corporate 

loan volumes and expo-
sures started to increase, at 
the initial stage mainly with 
the respective short-term 
placements in Turkey in lo-
cal currency denomination. 
It is the aim of the bank to 
increase in general long-
term cooperation with cor-
porates in its current, new 
and potential markets with 
new product structuring, 

for which preparations are finalized and explorations are 
under way.

Securities transactions and investment activities are real-
ized within the Treasury Department. The bank’s securi-
ties book did not show a significant change in 2010 with a 
year-end balance of EUR 508.7 million, representing 26.6% 
of total assets, compared with EUR 485.7 million and 24% 
in 2009. Of this item, a 51.4% majority was related to ECB 
eligible securities, of which the predominant portion is A- 
rated, while the rest consisted mainly of investment grade 
CIS bank securities and to a smaller extent, sovereigns in 
Turkey. DHB Bank does not hold a securities trading book.

On the liabilities side, DHB Bank refrained for the past few 
years from relying on wholesale funding in the form of syn-
dicated term loan facilities. Currently, the bank does not 
carry any syndication in its liabilities, and has no immediate 
plans of tapping the markets to this end. Nonetheless, as 
part of its new strategies, it started at the end of 2010 to 
make use of short-term repo funding to a limited extent.

Under the supervision of the Managing Board, liquidity 
and market risk management conducted by the Treasury 
Department in cooperation with the Financial Risk Mod-
eling and Assessment Department continued in 2010. As 
an extension of its post-crisis strategies and as a prepara-
tion to expected regulatory changes, during a major part 
of the year DHB Bank carried on to maintain a considerable 
liquidity base, which corresponded to a high proportion of 
the saving deposits as well. 

“On the assets side, 
wholesale banking is the 

foremost investment activity 
and revenue generation type 

for DHB Bank ”
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In terms of market risk management in general, and FX risk 
management in particular, and due to the traditional bal-
ance sheet composition of assets denominated partly in 
USD with funding mostly in EUR, the bank has usually been 
active in FX swaps as a EUR placer and USD taker. Despite 
less volatility, market conditions still continued to put ex-
tra stress on USD funds around the world, represented by 
rather higher costs compared to conventional LIBOR rates. 
Despite this situation, DHB Bank continued to fully fund its 
USD denominated activities with swaps at macro level, and 
also started funding particular transactions in this context 
on a one-to-one basis. Nevertheless, in order to reduce its 
reliance on FX swaps in general, the bank usually refrains 
from granting new loans denominated in USD, unless for 
special opportunities, preferring placements in EUR in-
stead. Within this context, the total FX swap book further 
shrank by the end of 2010 to nominal EUR 403.4 million 
from nominal EUR 525.6 million in 2009.

RetAil opeRAtions

DHB Bank’s retail operations consist of retail deposits, retail 
services and consumer loans.

Retail deposits collected from Germany, The Netherlands, 
and Belgium, which proved their sticky character during the 
crisis period, constitute the main pillar of the bank concern-
ing funding operations and financial management. They 
corresponded to 73.6% of total equity and liabilities, or 81.9% 
excluding shareholders’ equity as of year-end 2010.
 
As resolved at the end of 2009, as part of its strategic align-
ment, and in light of the new regulatory rules that led the 
management to undertake balance sheet size reduction at 
the beginning of 2010 down to the approximately year-end 
mark of EUR 1.8 billion (excluding EC Bank), and to maintain 
it around this level, DHB Bank intentionally reduced its to-
tal retail deposit base to EUR 1,408.6 million (excluding EC 
Bank)  at the end of the year under review from EUR 1,746.9 
million in 2009. The deposit base is aimed to be maintained 
more or less around the current levels.

Reduction in deposits were also conducted within the con-
text of targeting ultimately an even distribution between 

saving accounts (including a negligible contribution of 
current accounts) and term deposits, and accordingly rates 
offered by the bank on these products are adjusted paral-
lel to this goal. In terms of product breakdown, saving de-
posits constituted 59.6% of the total while the remaining 
40.4% accounted for term deposits in 2010 (2009: 63% and 
37% respectively). Out of total customer deposits, 62.1% 
were collected in Germany, 20.1% in The Netherlands and 
17.8% in Belgium. The EUR 73 million deposits of EC Bank 
are booked under the ‘liabilities held for sale’ item in the 
balance sheet.

Product-wise, DHB Bank developed floating rate term de-
posits in its service range, and plans to offer it soon to its 
customers initially in Germany for further and progressive 
market penetration in the term deposits segment.

Funded-based consumer lending activities were com-
pletely halted after the crisis started, due to which the 2010 
year-end balance was reduced to EUR 40.2 million (exclud-
ing EC Bank). It has been decided to resume these activities 
by centralizing operations in Belgium, including Turkije Hy-
potheek, a special mortgage product offered for residents 
of European Union member countries for their residential 
purchases in Turkey. On the other hand, in Belgium, where 
standard retail lending was exclusively offered on a fully 
insured structure in the past, the bank started to increase 
its brokerage commission income owing to a special co-
operation agreement with a Belgian bank thanks to which 
prospective retail borrowers are granted loans by this pro-
vider. The bank has recently resumed retail loan activities 
on a funded basis as well.

Workers’ remittances mostly to Turkey and to a limited extent 
to Morocco are a niche for DHB Bank in The Netherlands, 
with their stable source of income characteristics, despite 
the reduced overall volume attributable to the general mar-
ket conditions. On the other hand, the customer coverage 
is nevertheless increased in The Netherlands via an internet 
platform peculiar to this country, namely ‘Ideal’, which allows 
also non-account-holding clients to send their funds via the 
internet to Turkey either in EUR or TRY denominations with-
out having to visit bank branches, a service launched at the 
end of 2009. In terms of currency denomination, the trend 
among customers to switch from EUR remittances to TRY re-
mittances is expected to continue.
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“On a continual basis, DHB Bank strives to 
further strengthen the bank-wide risk and capital 

management framework in terms of organizational 
structure, processes and responsibilities”

Risk MAnAgeMent

DHB Bank’s business activities are exposed to a variety of 
risks in all aspects of its operations. The bank’s ability to 
properly identify, measure, monitor and control risk is ac-
knowledged and recognized as critical to both its sound-
ness and its profitability. 

The bank’s risk management framework is intended to 
provide comprehensive control over the ongoing manage-
ment of major risks inherent in its business activities. The 
bank manages its risk by seeking to ensure that business 
activities provide an appropriate balance of return for the 
risks assumed and remain within the bank’s risk appetite, 
which is collectively managed throughout the organiza-
tion.

On a continual basis, DHB Bank strives to further strength-
en the bank-wide risk and capital management framework 
in terms of organizational structure, processes and respon-
sibilities, as well as methods for the identification, meas-
urement, monitoring and control of risks. In this line, the 
management ensures that all risk-related policies are fully 
communicated and adopted at all levels within DHB Bank.

Risk GoveRnance 

The bank’s risk governance structure starts with lines of 
business being responsible for managing their own risks 
within predefined parameters. As such, each business line 
unit works closely with independent risk assessment units 
and actively participates in relevant committees to man-
age the respective risks appropriately.

The Supervisory Board exercises its oversight of risk man-
agement principally through the Board’s Risk & Audit Com-
mittee, which is responsible for the oversight of policies 
and processes by which risk assessment and management 
are undertaken within the governance structure. The Com-
mittee also reviews internal control and financial report-
ing systems that are relied upon to ensure integrated risk 
measurement and disclosure processes.

Within the governance structure, DHB Bank’s Credit Com-
mittee, Asset & Liability Management Committee (ALCO), 
Organization & Control Committee and Risk & Capital Man-
agement Committee oversee major risks on an overall ba-
sis in addition to various other committees that focus on 
specific risk areas. The committees also support the Man-
aging Board in fulfilling its responsibilities with regard to 
integrated risk management and provide oversight to the 
Corporate Marketing, Financial Institutions & Forfaiting and 
Treasury departments, which are responsible for manag-
ing the risks in their activities within approved risk limits 
and tolerance. Additionally, the Internal Audit Department 
performs an overall control function over the risk manage-
ment processes.

As part of the continuous efforts to improve operational 
risk management, in 2008 the bank launched an Opera-
tional Risk & Control Assessment (ORCA) project, which is 
a continuous application developed to control operational 
risks more efficiently.

The bank pays utmost attention to the prevention of integ-
rity risk and associated reputation risk. With this approach, 
the bank strengthened in 2010 its governance structure by 
establishing a Related Party Transactions Committee at the 
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Supervisory Board level and by adopting related policies, 
including policies with regard to prevention of conflict of 
interests within the organization. 

capital ManaGeMent 

DHB Bank’s capital management framework provides the 
policies and processes for defining, measuring and man-
aging capital in a coordinated and consistent manner. The 
goal is to ensure that there is sufficient capital to support 
the bank’s risk taking activities and to maintain a level that 
is well in excess of the regulatory requirements and that is 
deemed appropriate for achieving the bank’s business and 
rating objectives.

The actual owned funds as a percentage of the total risk 
weighted assets (BIS capital ratio) under the Pillar 1 require-
ments of Basel II stood at 13.42% as per year-end 2010.

The purpose of Basel II is to better align the required reg-
ulatory capital with actual bank risk. It also aims to pro-
mote enhanced risk management practices among in-
ternationally active banking organizations. DHB Bank has 
fully adapted to the Basel II requirements and particularly 
benefited from the ongoing work to enhance its internal 
capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) as required 
under Pillar 2.

The ICAAP sets internal capital targets and defines strate-
gies for achieving those targets consistent with our Risk 
Appetite, business plans, operating environment and 
regulatory requirements. The ICAAP adopted by the bank 
has also taken into account the implications of DNB’s new 
policy rule generally requiring higher capital requirements 
for risk concentration in emerging countries. For DHB Bank, 
the new regulation is considered as a catalyst to diversify 
its country risk exposures and enhance its capital adequacy 
ratio over a two-year period. 

Basel ii disclosuRe  

Basel II regulations also prescribe certain minimum disclo-
sure requirements in line with Pillar 3. Pillar 3 hence com-
plements the minimum capital requirements (Pillar 1), the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process and the su-
pervisory review process (Pillar 2). Its goal is to encourage 

market discipline by developing a set of disclosure require-
ments that will allow stakeholders to assess certain speci-
fied information regarding the bank’s implementation of 
Basel II, including capital resources, capital adequacy, risk 
profile, and risk management practices.

DHB Bank publishes its Pillar 3 disclosures on its website. 
The next Pillar 3 disclosure will be available during the first 
half of 2011 based on 31 December 2010 figures.

expectAtions

For the past two years, DHB Bank conducted its activities 
parallel to the volatility in the markets, to the downturn in 
the global economy and to anticipated stringent regula-
tory changes, all of which led it to maintain high liquidity 
and to implement risk-averse lending policies. With relative 
improvements in the markets and global economy and 
with the recent clarification in the regulatory environment, 
the bank is engaged in a more active placement activity 
with clearly defined potential markets and target custom-
ers within its customary risk assessment and management 
processes.

Parallel to the economic recovery in the current, new and 
potential markets of DHB Bank, and based on the sound 
risk characteristics of the targeted clientele, asset quality 
is expected to remain healthy. Nevertheless, the bank will 
continue to make use of its traditionally strict monitoring 
processes, on account of which the bank never encoun-
tered serious problems in its asset quality since its estab-
lishment. 

The new large item rule that delimits maximum exposures 
for entities on a group level has entered into force as from 

12,50 %

13,42%

2009 2010

SOLVENCY RATIO 
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December 31, 2010. Although the bank does not intend 
high concentration on respectively group levels, this new 
rule is expected to have restrictive implications on its li-
quidity management or on its investment profile for par-
ticular cases. 

Liquidity will continue to be another focal point, and con-
sidering its current high level liquidity as well as asset and 
liability structure, the bank is prepared to adapt itself to the 
new liquidity requirements scheduled to be implemented 
by DNB as from May 1, 2011.      

In spite of sub-branch closures in Belgium, thanks to the 
progress achieved in call center services and particularly in 
internet banking DHB Bank is committed to maintaining its 
services to its clients in Germany, Belgium as well as in The 
Netherlands.

With an efficient and upgraded in-house IT system, DHB 
Bank has no plans for new major investments in this area 
in the near future, except for ongoing IT operation & main-
tenance expenses and management information system 
applications. A switch to an open source operating system 
for core banking infrastructure will take place in 2011 for 
long-term cost savings.

Increase in service-based commission income is antici-
pated, particularly through the sale of residual debt insur-
ances, through process-related fees in connection with ex-
pected growth in Turkije Hypotheek and through currency 
options that started to being offered to corporate custom-
ers on a hedged basis for the bank. 

The relatively significant negative effects of EC Bank on the 
results of DHB Bank will be eliminated as from 2011 and 
onwards. Following the sale of the bank’s shares in EC Bank, 
the efficiency ratio of the bank will show an improvement 
also in view of the positive effects of restructuring meas-
ures taken place in 2009 and 2010. 

Parallel to the management’s new strategic endeavors 
comprising controlled credit expansion within the lines of 
sound capital management, it is anticipated that DHB Bank 
will report comparatively higher and sustainable profitabil-
ity in 2011 and onwards.   

BoARd And stAff

Dr. Halit Cıngıllıoğlu who has served as the Chairman of 
DHB Bank’s Supervisory Board over 15 years, has resigned 
from his position as from December 2010. We would like 
to thank him for the very much appreciated guidance and 
leadership he has endowed the bank with as well as for the 
invaluable support he has not spared during his tenure.

Mr. Hasan Cebeci has left his Vice-chairman position in 
the first half of 2010. His supervisory contributions were as 
priceless as the support he showed to DHB Bank particularly 
following the 2008 global crisis via Halkbank, and we would 
like to thank him for the vision he brought to the bank.

Mr. Okan Beygo left his position in the Supervisory Board, 
and on this occasion we would like to present him too our 
appreciation for his valuable contributions during his term.

The position vacated by Dr. Halit Cıngıllıoğlu was replaced 
by Mr. Theodoor Joseph Bark. Representing Halkbank, 
Mr. Mehmet Emin Özcan joined the Supervisory Board 
as well. We are confident that the experience and vision of 
Messrs. Bark and Özcan, who both have extensive knowl-
edge on and familiarity with DHB Bank, will further assist 
the bank in its endeavors.

Mr. Selçuk Şaldırak had joined the Managing Board of 
DHB Bank as Senior General Manager at the end of 2007, 
a short time after which the global crisis broke out. He has 
left his position as of October 31, 2010, and his experience, 
contributions and foresight have been crucial for the bank 
to weather the crisis period unscathed. We would like to 
thank him for his respective inputs and dedication.

The Senior General Manager position of DHB Bank’s Man-
aging Board was filled by Mr. Kayhan Acardağ. With a 
banking career spanning 30 years and encompassing vari-
ous executive positions, Mr. Acardağ has in depth know-
how on commercial and international banking, on the 
Dutch banking sector as well as on DHB Bank which he 
served for more than 15 years.

Parallel to cost efficiency measures implemented for quite 
some time and also along the lines of new branch closures 

 A n n u A l  R e p o R t  2 0 1 0  n  R e p o R t  o f  t H e  M A n A g i n g  B o A R d
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From left to right: Mr. Kayhan Acardağ and Mr. Abram Rutgers

and organizational restructuring, DHB Bank’s number of 
staff decreased to 431 in 2010 from 437 in 2009, including 
EC Bank.

On this occasion, we would like to convey our sincere 
thanks to the members of the Supervisory Board for their 
invaluable contribution and guidance in steering the bank 
through a severe crisis environment. We also would like to 
present our gratefulness to the management and staff of 
the bank thanks to whose dedication and efforts DHB Bank 
is where it stands today.

Rotterdam, March 31, 2011

Mr. Kayhan Acardağ 
Senior General Manager

Mr. Abram Rutgers
General Manager
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supeRvisoRy BoARd

MR. theodooR Joseph BaRk

Chairman

Born in The Netherlands in 1945, Mr. Bark  joined ABN Bank after high school in 
The Netherlands. He held international assignments since 1969 in Japan and Hong 
Kong and subsequently was country manager South Korea, Regional Manager 
Middle East, CEO Saudi Hollandi Bank in Saudi Arabia, Regional Manager Western/
Northern Europe; thereafter Regional Manager Central Europe and CIS.

In 1997 he became member of North America Management team specifically re-
sponsible for Canada and Mexico. Mr. Bark retired in 2002 from ABN-Amro Bank as 
Regional Manager, based in Malaysia, in charge of selling various operations of the 
bank in Asia, Middle East and Africa. He joined DHB Bank as member of the Super-
visory Board in 2002, and concurrently was advisor, director and Supervisory Board 
member in other locations of the main shareholder of DHB Bank.

MR. MehMet eMin Özcan

Member 

Born in 1960 in Beytüşşebap, Mr. Özcan is a graduate of the Department of Eco-
nomics and Finance, Faculty of Political Sciences, Ankara University.

He began his career as an Assistant Inspector at Türkiye İş Bankası A.Ş. in1983. Fol-
lowing this, he assumed various management roles at Albaraka Türk Katılım Bankası 
A.Ş. Between March 2003 and April 2005, Mr. Özcan served as an Executive Board 
Member at Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş. During the same period, he worked as a Board 
Member of Demir-Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V., Halk Yatırım Menkul Değerler A.Ş. 
and Halk Finansal Kiralama A.Ş. Between April 2005 and May 2010, he  was ap-
pointed as the Board Member of  the Board Directors of T.C. Ziraat Bankası A.Ş. He 
also participated as a Member of the Board of Directors in T.C. Ziraat Bankası A.Ş.’s 
various subsidiaries. Currently Mr. Özcan serves as the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of the Association of National Development Finance Institutions in Mem-
ber Countries of IDB (ADFIMI). He was appointed as Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş. on 24 May 2010. 

Governing Bodies 
and Management

An n u A l  Re p o R t  2010 n go v e R n i n g Bo d i e s ,  MA n A g e M e n t  & stA f f
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dR. nuRzahit keskin
Member 

Born in 1962 in Istanbul, Dr. Keskin holds a Master of Arts degree from the Depart-
ment of International Banking, the Institute of Banking and Insurance, Marmara 
University, a PhD from Sakarya University and a bachelor’s degree from the Afyon 
Faculty of Economic and Administrative Sciences of Anadolu University.

Starting his career as a lecturer at Marmara University in 1986, he subsequently held 
different positions such as independent auditor, management consultant and senior 
executive at various national, multinational and international companies in Turkey. 
In 2003, Dr. Keskin became a member of the Executive Board of Türkiye Cumhuri-
yeti Ziraat Bankası A.Ş. and was also on the boards of this bank’s several subsidiaries 
abroad. Since 2005, Dr. Keskin has been a member of the Board of Directors of Türkiye 
Halk Bankası A.Ş. and joined the Supervisory Board of DHB Bank in 2008.

dRs. Jan th. GRoosMulleR

Member

Born in 1930, Mr. Groosmuller graduated in banking and finance in the predecessor 
of Rotterdam Erasmus University. 

He started his professional career with ten years in Philips, and subsequently 
switched to banking. He has been the local general manager of Dutch based Swiss, 
USA, Spanish and Italian banks during the last twenty five years.  Mr. Groosmuller, 
one of the two founders of DHB Bank in 1992, retired from his position of the bank’s 
General Manager in 1997, following which he joined the Supervisory Board. He is 
expected to retire from this position mid-2011.

MR. İsMail hasan akçakayalioğlu

Member

Born in 1963, Mr. Akçakayalıoğlu graduated from the Middle East Technical Univer-
sity (METU), Ankara,Computer Engineering undergraduate and masters degrees. 
He has completed his MBA study at Yeditepe University, Istanbul.

After graduating from METU, Mr. Akçakayalıoğlu has worked in Arthur Andersen 
and Andersen Consulting in London and Istanbul offices. Prior to his Chairman 
and CEO positions at BankPozitif Kredi ve Kalkınma Bankası A.Ş., which he has been 
heading since 2002, he had worked in the banking sector at various management 
levels including the CEO position of Demirbank A.Ş. Mr. Akçakayalıoğlu is also the 
Chairman of C Faktoring A.Ş., Chairman of JSC BankPozitiv Kazakhstan, Chairman of 
Demir Kyrgyz International Bank and Member of the Supervisory Board of Demir-
Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V.
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MR. hans J.ph. Risch

Member

Born in The Netherlands in 1941, Mr. Risch started his banking career in 1962 with 
Pierson Heldring & Pierson. Since 1968 he served among others as director and or 
member of the managing board of various banking institutions in The Netherlands. 
In 2006 he retired as member of the Managing Board of DHB Bank and was ap-
pointed as member of the Supervisory Board of the bank.

Since 2003 Mr. Risch is Honorary Consul of Turkey.

MAnAging BoARd

MR. kayhan acaRdağ

Senior General Manager

Born in 1957 and with Turkish and Dutch nationalities, Mr. Acardağ holds an MBA 
from the University of Warwick-United Kingdom (2007) and a bachelor’s degree 
from METU (Middle East Technical University, Turkey), Faculty of Administrative Sci-
ences, Department of Management (1980). 

He started his career at the Board of Sworn Bank Auditors in Turkey, where he 
served as Sworn Bank Auditor until 1989. He joined Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş. in 
1989 with the position of Advisor to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, and 
subsequently served as Manager of the Fund Credits Department until 1993. Mr. 
Acardağ held various executive positions at DHB Bank since 1993 and is a member 
of the bank’s Managing Board since 2004.

MR. aBRaM RutGeRs

General Manager 

Born in The Netherlands in 1948, Mr. Rutgers joined an international grain-trading 
company in Amsterdam after the completion of Nyenrode business school in 1970. 
In 1973 he decided to join the international division of ABN Bank. His postings 
abroad include countries like Iran, Saudi Arabia, Belgium, Greece, Kenya and he ad-
ditionally served as ABN’s country manager in the United Arab Emirates, Turkey and 
Morocco.

In 2002, Mr. Rutgers joined the Supervisory Board of DHB Bank and in 2006 was ap-
pointed to the Managing Board of DHB Bank.

An n u A l  Re p o R t  2010 n go v e R n i n g Bo d i e s ,  MA n A g e M e n t  & stA f f
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senioR MAnAgeMent

Ms. BahaR kayihan

Assistant General Manager
Operations & Documentary Credits

Ms. ayten tüRkMen

Assistant General Manager
Corporate Marketing

Ms. ayşe cinGil

Assistant General Manager
Loans

MR. c. levent es

Assistant General Manager
Financial Institutions & Forfaiting

Chief Internal Auditor
MR. Jos de Goede Ra

depARtMent HeAds

Compliance
MR. BoudewiJn daMsteeGt

Financial Control
MR. eRcan eRdoğan

Financial Risk Modeling & Assessment
MR. dJono suBaGJo

Forfaiting
MR. GaspaR esteve cuevas

General Affairs & Human Resources
MR. Ron huiBRechtse

Information Security
MR. dheeRaJ kataRya

Information Technology
MR. nezih enGin

Legal Affairs
MR. JafaR daR

Operations & Documentary Credits
Ms. pinaR olieRook-tüRe

Research & Project Development
MR. fatih teke

Retail Banking
MR. eRol ulu

Treasury
MR. İRfan çetineR
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RetAil BRAncHes 
netHeRlAnds

Amsterdam - Rotterdam - The Hague
MR. M. devRiM Baykal

Manager

foReign MAin BRAncHes

GeRMany

 
MR. wilfRied hüBneR

Country Manager

BelGiuM

 
MR. René Bienfait

Country Manager

MR. can kuRal

Country Manager

istAnBul RepResentAtive 
Ms. fulya BaRan

MAcedoniA 
expoRt and cRedit Bank, inc., skopJe

MR. yücel İnan

Chief Executive Director

MR. toMce tasevski

Executive Director

MR. eRtüRk süMeR

Executive Director
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Financial Statements 
for the Year 2010

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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Consolidated statement of financial position

 (in thousands of EUR) Notes  2010 2009

ASSETS    
Cash and balances with central banks  4.1 26,849 252,092
Financial assets held for trading  4.2 5,431 17,513
Available for sale financial assets 4.3 393,297 252,651
Securities held to maturity 4.4 115,409 232,999
Loans and receivables – banks  4.5 878,542 594,653
Loans and receivables – customers  4.6 337,937 636,847
Property and equipment  4.7 14,283 28,749
intangible assets 4.8 27 1,096
Current tax assets 4.9 4,798 3,103
Deferred tax assets 4.9 1,442 2,009
Other assets  4.10 2,217 4,737
Assets held for sale  4.11 133,619 –
  Total assets   1,913,851 2,026,449 
   
LIABILITIES    
Due to banks  4.12 163,833 30,074
Financial liabilities held for trading  4.2 17,991 20,773
Deposits from customers  4.13 1,408,622 1,746,924
Provisions 4.14 3,070 5,645
Current tax liabilities 4.15 68 259
Deferred tax liabilities 4.15 1,840 2,194
Other liabilities  4.16 20,447 22,744
Liabilities held for sale  4.11 103,940 –
  Total liabilities    1,719,811 1,828,613 
       
EQUITY   
Share capital 4.17 113,445 113,445
Retained earnings   82,721 77,855
Other reserves  (3,786) 4,780
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent   192,380 196,080
   
Equity attributable to minority interests   1,660 1,756
Total equity  194,040 197,836
   
  Total equity and liabilities    1,913,851 2,026,449 
       
Commitments and contingent liabilities 6.1 18,561 22,985

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010

 (in thousands of EUR) Notes   2010  2009

interest income   70,028   91,541  
interest expense    (39,126)   (67,990)  
Net interest income 5.1   30,902   23,551
           
Fee and commission income   9,978   14,022  
Fee and commission expense   (1,049)   (796)  
Net fee and commission income 5.2   8,929   13,226
           
Result on financial transactions 5.3   (6,580)      7,843
           
Other operating income 5.4   947   312
           
  Total operating income    34,198  44,932 
           
Administrative expenses:          
Staff expenses 5.5 (17,014)   (17,148)  
Other administrative expenses 5.6 (10,402)   (13,517)  
      (27,416)   (30,665)
           
Depreciation and amortization     (2,112)   (2,268)
           
  Total operating expense     (29,528)   (32,933)
     
Net impairment charge     1,072   282
     
 Total operating expense    (28,456)  (32,651) 
           
Operating profit before tax     5,742   12,281
           
income tax expense 5.7   (1,780)   (3,566)
           
 Net profit    3,962  8,715 

Attributable to:     
shareholders of the parent company     4,088   8,820
minority interest     (126)   (105)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement
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 (in thousands of EUR) Attributable to shareholders of the parent  

Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Legal 
reserve 

Re-
valuation 

reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Consoli-
dated net 

profit
Total

Minority 
interests

Total 
equity

At January 1, 2009 113,445 70,133 957 3,213 – (308) – 187,440 1,843 189,283
Addition to – – 139 647 (150) 282 – 918 18 936
Release from – (1,098) – – – – – (1,098) – (1,098)
Profit for the year – – – – – – 8,820 8,820 (105) 8,715

At December 31, 2009 113,445 69,035 1,096 3,860 (150) (26) 8,820 196,080 1,756 197,836

At January 1, 2010 113,445 69,035 1,096 3,860 (150) (26) 8,820 196,080 1,756 197,836
Addition to – 9,598 – – (7,342) – – 2,256 30 2,286
Release from – – (1,069) (106) – (49) (8,820) (10,044) – (10,044)
Profit for the year – – – – – – 4,088 4,088 (126) 3,962

At December 31, 2010 113,445 78,633 27 3,754 (7,492) (75) 4,088 192,380 1,660 194,040

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

The movements in equity are as follows:
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 (in thousands of EUR) Notes   2010  2009

Net profit    3,962  8,715
     
Currency translation reserve   (49)  282 
Fair value reserve  (7,342)  (150) 
Revaluation reserve  (106)  647 
Gains (losses) not recognized in income statement   (7,497)  779
     
  Comprehensive income for the year  (3,535) 9,494 
     
Attributable to:     
• owners of the parent   (3,411)  9,599
• non-controlling interest   (124)  (105)
  Total comprehensive income for the year  (3,535) 9,494 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010



34

 (in thousands of EUR) 2010 2009

Net cash from operating activities  (208,951) (127,738)
Net profit  3,962 8,715
  
Noncash items included in profit:  
Depreciation and amortization for property and equipment 1,715 1,950
Depreciation and amortization for intangible assets 398 318
Provisions and impairment (1,072) (282)
Net change in provisions (2,575) 2,502
Net interest income (30,902) (23,551)
income tax expense 1,780 3,566
  
Change in financial assets held for trading 12,082 19,063
Change in loans and receivables – banks, not available on demand (280,450) 17,096
Change in loans and receivables – customers 299,077 64,247
Change in income tax assets and other assets (132,227) 1,055
  
Change in due to banks, not due on demand 133,759 (200,211)
Change in  deposits from customers (338,302) (16,456)
Change in liabilities held for trading (2,782) (20,362)
Change in income tax liabilities and other liabilities 101,017 (5,700)
Exchange rate movements (75) (12)
  
interest received 76,546 88,250
interest paid (47,756) (64,699)
income tax paid (3,146) (3,227)
  
Net cash from investing activities  (16,295) (196,980)
Additions to financial investments (420,956) (597,708)
Disposals and redemptions of financial investments 391,284 402,292
investments in property and equipment  (396) (6,367)
investments in  intangible assets (255) (454)
Disposal of property and equipment 13,102 5,257
Disposal of intangible assets 926 -
  
Net cash flow from financing activities  3 26
Movement in group equity 3 26
    
  Net Cash Flow (225,243) (324,692) 
  
Cash and balances with central banks at January 1 252,092 576,784
Cash and balances with central banks at December 31 26,849 252,092
  Net change in cash and balances with central banks (225,243) (324,692) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement
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1. coRpoRAte infoRMAtion

  The shareholders are HCBG Holding B.V. of Amsterdam, which owns 70% and Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş. of Ankara, 
which owns 30%. DHB Bank has an interest of 66.56% in Export & Credit Bank inc., Skopje (EC Bank) in Macedonia.

  The financial position of the bank is related to the economic developments in Turkey and CiS countries on the 
asset side, and The Netherlands, Belgium and Germany on the liabilities side. The financial statements reflect the 
Management’s best assessment of the financial position of the bank with respect to these developments. 

  The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 were authorized for issue in accord-
ance with a resolution of the Supervisory Board and Managing Board on March 31, 2011.

2. BAsis of pRepARAtion And fiRst tiMe Adoption of ifRs 
 2.1 coMpliance status

   The consolidated financial statements of DHB Bank and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in accord-
ance with international Financial Reporting Standards (EU-iFRS), as issued by the international Accounting 
Standards Board (iASB) and adopted by the European Union (EU).

  All amounts are stated in thousands of EUR, unless otherwise stated.

 2.2 Basis of MeasuReMent

   The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available for sale 
investments, derivative financial instruments, financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss and investment property which have been measured at fair value.

 2.3 functional and pResentation cuRRency

   The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is the functional currency of DHB Bank.

 2.4 chanGes in accountinG policies

   For the periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2009, DHB Bank prepared its consolidat-
ed financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in The Netherlands 
(hereinafter referred to as Dutch GAAP). Transition to EU-iFRS incorporates the impact of applying the re-
quirements of EU-iFRS to DHB Bank’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at January 1, 2009. 

   Recently many of the requirements of EU-iFRS have been included within Dutch GAAP. However, some 
standards of Dutch GAAP do not comply with EU-iFRS. Most importantly, iAS 39 ‘Financial instruments’, 
which is the main EU-iFRS standard impacting banks, was not fully incorporated into Dutch GAAP. This 
standard, which extends the use of fair values, causes a number of the transition differences.

  Effective yield method for financial asset and liabilities in all categories excluding ‘held for trading’:
   in order to harmonise the transition to EU-iFRS DHB Bank has already changed the recognition of interest 

income on a daily basis. in accordance with EU-iFRS, the amortized cost has been calculated with curve 
method on an accrual basis.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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Financial assets held for trading:
 Under Dutch GAAP DHB Bank maintained certain interest bearing securities under its investment portfolio and net discount-
ed amounts of derivative financial instruments are recorded under other assets or other liabilities. Additionally, the nominal 
amounts of credit default swaps are recorded under contingent liabilities. With the transition to EU-iFRS, derivative financial 
assets are reclassified to ‘Financial assets held for trading’, and their carrying amounts are adjusted to their fair values. Like-
wise, if any, certain bank and non-bank loans, which are created or purchased with the purpose of short-term profit making, 
were previously classified per Dutch GAAP under ‘banks’ and ‘loans and advances’ respectively. With the transition to EU-iFRS, 
these assets are reclassified to ‘Financial assets held for trading’, and their carrying amounts are adjusted to their fair values. 

Available for sale financial assets: 
 Under Dutch GAAP these assets were classified under investment securities and were valued at fair value. The difference 
between the fair values in two periods is recognized under income statement, in ‘result on financial transactions’. With the 
transition to EU-iFRS, previously recognized amount in ‘result on financial transactions’ is reclassified to equity with the de-
scription ‘fair value reserve’. The differences between fair values and amortized costs are recognized under equity in ‘fair 
value reserve’ net of tax. 

When preparing consolidated financial statements, DHB Bank has elected to utilize transitional provisions within iFRS 1 
‘First-time Adoption of international Financial Reporting Standards’ which offer  practical exemptions from the normal re-
quirements of applying EU-iFRS retrospectively. DHB Bank used an exemption to establish its opening EU-iFRS equity and 
assumed that no restatement of business combinations that took place prior to January 1, 2009.

 Below is the reconciliation of equity as at the opening balance sheet date of 1 January 2009 from Dutch GAAP to iFRS.

Adjustments for 
transition to iFRS

Deferred tax 
(charge) / income 

on transition 
adjustments

Net impact on 
Equity Totals

Shareholders’ equity under Dutch GAAP as of January 1, 2009 197,944

Adjustment items with impact on reserves due to first time application (10,504)
• increase in the fair value of financial derivatives due to recomputations per iFRS (9,522) 2,428 (7,094)
• Recognition of the fair value of EBRD put option (3,284) - (3,284)
• Derecognition of provision for retail loans in Belgium 200 (54) 146
• Recognition of additional pension provision according to IAS 19 (465) 118 (347)
• Adjustment of foreign currency translation (84) - (84)
• Adjustment due to adoption of anticipated acquisition method 159 - 159
Shareholders’ equity under IFRS as of January 1, 2009 187,440

Recognition of the fair value of EBRD put option refers to the difference between the recognized financial liability on 
EBRD put option and the value of the 25% of the net asset value of EC Bank. it is recognized in accordance with the An-
ticipated Acquisition Method.

Below is the reconciliation of the consolidated income statement for the year ended December 31, 2009 from Dutch 
GAAP to iFRS:
Net profit under Dutch GAAP for the year ended December 31, 2009 5,794
Recognition of fair value gain/(loss) on financial derivatives 3,768
impact due to fair value reserve 150
Recognition of additional pension provision according to iAS 19 43
Tax effects  (1,040)
 Net profit under IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2009 8,715 
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3. suMMARy of significAnt Accounting policies

 3.1 Basis of consolidation

   The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of DHB Bank 
and its subsidiaries DHB Hypotheken & Verzekeringen B.V., Best CreditLine B.V., Maaslust 9 Monumenten 
B.V. and Best Properties B.V., the company Stichting Bewaarfonds and EC Bank. in accordance with EU-iFRS 
the company profit and loss account is also presented in an abbreviated form to show company results and 
results of subsidiaries.

  Subsidiaries 

   Subsidiaries are entities controlled by DHB Bank. Control exists when DHB Bank has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activi-
ties. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases. The financial statements have 
been prepared using uniform accounting policies and measurement for all transactions in similar circum-
stances.

   All intra-group balances and transactions, including income, expenses and dividends and unrealized gains 
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

   Minority interests represent the portion of profit and loss and net assets not owned, directly or indirectly, 
by DHB Bank and are presented separately in the income statement and within equity in the consolidated 
balance sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

   By the time of the acquisition of majority shares of EC Bank in Macedonia, DHB Bank has signed a ‘Put and 
Call Option Agreement’ with European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) in respect to 
EBRD’s remaining 25% share in EC Bank. This agreement, dated 16 May 2008, set out, inter alia, the terms on 
which EBRD may require DHB Bank to purchase the EBRD shares in EC Bank (put option) and the terms on 
which DHB Bank may require EBRD to sell the EBRD shares in EC Bank to DHB Bank (call option). it became 
effective upon the completion of the DHB Bank’s acquisition of the EC Bank’s shares as at 31 August 2008.

   According to EU-iFRS, if a put option granted to the minority shareholders provides for settlement in cash 
or in another financial asset by the entity then the entity should recognize a liability for the present value of 
the exercise price of the option. DHB Bank used the Anticipated Acquisition Method which accounts such 
written put options as an anticipated acquisition of the underlying minority interests as if the put option 
had been exercised already. This is independent of how the exercise price is determined (fixed or variable) 
and how likely the exercise of the option. DHB Bank recognized its financial liabilities regarding the put op-
tion of EBRD for EC Bank shares in accordance with EU-iFRS and the 25% shares of EBRD starting from the 
date of the initial transaction, which would increase its share in EC Bank to 91.56%. As the acquisition of 
non-controlling interests are accounted as equity transactions, DHB Bank followed the same accounting ap-
proach that was used in the initial acquisition for the put and call option on EBRD shares in accordance with 
EU-iFRS.
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 3.2 foReiGn cuRRency tRanslation

  Transaction and balances

   DHB Bank prepares its consolidated financial statements in euros, which is DHB Bank’s functional and pres-
entation currency. The euro is the functional currency for all entities in DHB Bank except for EC Bank.

   Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate on the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the func-
tional currency with respect to the spot rate at the balance sheet date. All differences are presented in the 
income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates as of the date of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items meas-
ured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated by using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

  Foreign operations

   The assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiary (namely EC Bank) are translated into DHB Bank’s pres-
entation currency (euro), at the spot rate at the balance sheet date. The income statement of the foreign 
subsidiary is translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on 
translation are stated under equity in a separate component.

 3.3 siGnificant accountinG estiMates

   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with EU-iFRS requires the use of certain accounting 
estimates and also requires the management to make judgements and assumptions that affect the applica-
tion of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based 
on management experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under certain circumstanc-
es, the results of which affect the judgments made about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Although DHB Bank tries to make maximum use of market inputs and 
rely as little as possible on estimates specific to DHB Bank, actual results may differ from these estimates.

   DHB Bank reviews the estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis. The most significant use 
of judgments and estimates are made in the following areas:

  • determination of fair values of non-quoted financial instruments,
  • determination of impairment losses on loans and receivables.

  These items are explained in related sections. 

 3.4 financial instRuMents – RecoGnition and suBsequent MeasuReMent

  Recognition date

   Transfer of financial assets which require delivery of assets within a certain time frame generally established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date, i.e. the date that DHB Bank 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Derivatives are recognized on trade date basis.

  Initial recognition of financial instruments

   Financial instruments are classified depending on the purpose for which the financial instruments were ac-
quired and their characteristics at initial recognition. All financial instruments are measured initially at fair 
value, including any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.
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  Measurement of financial instruments

  Financial instruments are measured at amortized cost or fair value.

   Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that 
are an integral part of the effective yield. The amortization is included in the income statement under ‘inter-
est income’.

   Fair value is the amount at which an asset can be exchanged, or a liability settled in an arm’s length transac-
tion between two knowledgeable and willing parties, excluding cases like forced sale or liquidation. The fair 
value of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations for 
financial instruments traded in active markets. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and 
regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

   Where a market is not active and where quoted prices do not exist for a financial instrument DHB Bank estab-
lishes fair value using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques use discounted cash flow analyses and makes 
maximum use of market inputs. Valuation techniques rely as little as possible on estimates specific to DHB Bank.

   These valuation models were built by incorporating all factors that market participants would consider in 
setting a price and they are consisted with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instru-
ments. Valuation model inputs reasonably represent market conditions together with market expectations 
and measures of the risk and return factors inherent in the financial instrument.

   DHB Bank consistently evaluates valuation techniques and tests them for validity using prices from observ-
able current market transactions in the same instrument or based on other available market data.

   At initial recognition, the best evidence regarding the fair value of a financial instrument is the transaction 
price, unless the fair value is evidenced by observable fair market transactions in the same instrument, or is 
based on a valuation technique that includes inputs only from an observable market.

  Classifications of financial instruments

   DHB Bank classifies financial assets and liabilities into the following measurement (valuation) categories:

	 	 •	 Financial	assets

   A. Financial assets held for trading:
     Financial assets held for trading are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value at initial measurement 

and are subsequently re-measured also at fair value through profit or loss if acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by the management. Changes in fair value 
are always recorded in the income statement under ‘Result on financial transactions’. 

   B. Loans and receivables:
     Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. DHB Bank does not intend to make immediate short-term profits by 
selling loans and receivables. At initial measurement this category is recorded in the balance sheet at 
cost and is subsequently re-measured at amortized cost, using the effective yield method, less provi-
sion for impairment.  The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the income statement under 
‘Net impairment charge’ and disclosed in the movement table under loans and receivables.

   C. Securities held to maturity:
     Held to maturity investments are non-derivative, interest bearing securities such as government 
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bonds, treasury bills and various debt instruments issued by banks and companies with fixed or de-
terminable payments and fixed maturities. At recognition, it is assumed that DHB Bank has the posi-
tive intent and ability to hold these financial assets till maturity. 

     After initial measurement at cost, held to maturity investments are subsequently measured at am-
ortized cost using the effective yield method, less provision for impairment. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognized in the income statement under ‘Net impairment charge’. 

   D. Available for sale financial assets:
     Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative assets which do not qualify to be classified as 

financial assets held for trading, loans and receivables and held to maturity investments. Available 
for sale financial assets are interest bearing securities such as government bonds, treasury bills and 
various debt instruments issued by banks and companies. DHB Bank has the intention to hold these 
assets for an indefinite period of time, however may also decide to sell them in response to needs for 
liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

     At initial measurement these are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value and are subsequently re-
measured also at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized directly in equity under the 
item ‘Fair value reserve’ until the investment is sold. interest income is calculated using the effective 
interest method and recognized in the income statement under ‘interest income’. When the security 
is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized in the in-
come statement under ‘Result on financial transactions’. The losses arising from impairment of such 
investments are also recognized in the income statement.

	 	 •	 Financial	liabilities

   E. Financial liabilities held for trading:
     This category includes derivative contracts consisting of cross currency swaps and forward foreign 

exchange contracts, interest rate swaps, options on bonds and foreign currencies, futures on equities 
and credit default swaps. At initial measurement derivatives are recorded at fair value and subse-
quently re-measured at fair value with changes being realized in the income statement under the 
item ‘Result on financial transactions’. The positive fair value differences are recorded in assets under 
item ‘Financial assets held for trading’ and the negative fair value differences are recorded in liabilities 
under item ‘Financial liabilities held for trading’.

   F. Other financial liabilities
     These are non-derivative financial liabilities (‘Due to banks’ and ‘Deposits from customers’) with fixed 

or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. At initial measurement this cat-
egory is recorded in the balance sheet at cost and is subsequently re-measured at amortized cost.

 3.5 deRecoGnition of financial assets and liaBilities

  Financial assets

  DHB Bank derecognizes a financial asset when:
  •  contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset expired;
  •  rights to receive cash flows from the asset were retained but there exists an obligation to pay them in full 

without material delay to a third party under a specific arrangement transferring substantially all risks 
and rewards;

  •  rights to receive cash flows from the asset were transferred;
  •  all the risks and rewards of the asset, or the control of the asset were transferred substantially.
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   When DHB Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the 
asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of DHB Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing 
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the consideration that DHB Bank could 
be required to repay.

  Financial liabilities

   A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modifica-
tion is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the differ-
ence in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

 3.6 iMpaiRMent of financial assets

   DHB Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial as-
set or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that oc-
curred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has 
(have) an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include one or more of the following indications:

  •  The Borrower has been placed in bankruptcy leading to the avoidance or delays in the repayments re-
garding the financial assets;

  •  The Borrower has failed the repayment of principal, interest or fees and the payment problem remained 
unsolved for a certain period;

  •  The Borrower has demonstrated significant financial difficulty which will possibly have a negative impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial instrument;

  •  Historical experience, updated for current events, provides evidence that a proportion of a group of as-
sets is impaired, although the related events that represent impairment triggered are not captured by 
DHB Bank. 

  (i) Loans and receivables due from banks and customers
    For amounts due from banks and loans and receivables from customers carried at amortized cost, DHB 

Bank first assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for financial assets that 
are significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. 

    if DHB Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed finan-
cial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collec-
tively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

    if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is meas-
ured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated fu-
ture cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognized in the income statement. Loans together with the associated allowance accounts are written 
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off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and the collateral has neither been realized nor 
transferred to DHB Bank. if, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases 
or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recog-
nized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. When any part of a 
claim is deemed uncollectible or forgiven, a write-off is charged to the allowance account. When a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the ‘Net impairment charge’.

    The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effec-
tive yield. if a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the 
current effective yield. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a col-
lateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining 
and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

    The bank provides provisions to cover potential loan losses on a collective basis based on an incurred but 
not reported (iBNR) loss method. For the purpose of calculating the iBNR loss, individually assessed loans 
and receivables for which no evidence of loss has been specifically identified on an individual basis are 
grouped together according similar risk characteristics, taking into account credit rating, exposure class, 
industry and geographical location.Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit 
risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of 
current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the year on which 
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period 
that do not exist currently. Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect and are directionally consist-
ent with changes in related observable data from year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, 
commodity prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the group and 
their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed 
regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

  (ii) Held to maturity financial investments
    For held to maturity investments DHB Bank assesses individually whether there is objective evidence 

of impairment. if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of 
the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of es-
timated future cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement.

     if, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the ‘Net 
impairment charge’. 

  (iii)Available for sale financial assets
    For available for sale financial assets, DHB Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is ob-

jective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 
    in case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same 

criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost. interest based on market rates is accrued at the effec-
tive yield on the reduced carrying amount of the asset and is recorded as part of interest income. if, in a 
subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively related 
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the income statement, the impairment 
loss is reversed through the income statement.
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 3.7 Business coMBinations

   DHB Bank finalized the acquisition of EC Bank in Macedonia in August 2008. As the acquisition took place 
before 1 January 2009, transition date, DHB Bank is exempted from iFRS 3. EC Bank financial statements 
were consolidated starting from 31 August 2008.  The ownership of DHB Bank was taken as 91.56% taking 
into account the put option on 25% EC Bank shares of EBRD in accordance with iFRS 3.

 3.8 cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins in hand, unrestricted balances held with central banks 
and are used by DHB Bank in the management of its short-term commitments.

 3.9  pRopeRty and equipMent

   Property in use by the bank are stated at current value, as calculated according to the replacement cost 
value based on periodic appraisals by independent experts and any interim adjustments. Changes in the 
value are reflected in the revaluation reserve, taking deferred tax liabilities into account.

   Depreciation is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
as follows:

  • Real estate 600 months
  • Rebuilding cost real estate 120 months 

  Equipments are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
  Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

   Depreciation is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
as follows:

  • Leasehold improvements Over the term of respective leases or 120 months
  • Furniture and fixtures 60 months
  • Vehicles 60 months
  • Office equipment and IT hardware 36 months

  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.

   Upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use an item of property and 
equipment is derecognized. Gains and losses on derecognition of the asset are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in the income statement under ‘Other operating in-
come’ in the year the asset is derecognized. 

 3.10 intanGiBle assets

   intangible assets mainly include the value of computer software. intangible assets acquired separately are 
measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. intangible assets are amortized 
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangi-
ble asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset are 
reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortiza-
tion period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization 
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expense on intangible assets is recognized in the income statement in the expense category consistent with 
the function of the intangible asset.

   Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their 
residual values over their estimated useful life, subject to a maximum of 120 months. 

 3.11 iMpaiRMent of non-financial assets

   DHB Bank assesses the non-financial assets carried at fair value, whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset may be impaired. if any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, DHB Bank makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generating unit) is consid-
ered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

   Previously recognized impairment losses are reversed only if there have been changes in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. in such a case, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. impairment losses for goodwill can-
not be reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount in future periods.

 3.12 pRovisions

   Provisions mainly consist of provisions for defined benefit plan pension obligations, rent obligations for 
closed branches, provisions for reorganization and estimated regulatory obligations in relation to the de-
posit insurance scheme.

   Starting from 2006 defined benefit plan pension obligations are calculated according to the projected unit 
credit method of actuarial cost allocation. Under this method, each plan member’s benefits are funded as 
they would accrue, taking into account future salary increases. The total expected pension to which each 
plan member is entitled is broken down into units, each corresponding with a year of past or future credited 
service. For liabilities not covered by plan assets, there is an unfunded liability, for which a provision is cre-
ated and presented in the balance sheet in the item ‘Provisions’. DHB Bank recognizes a provision when it 
has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

   Provisions for future operating losses are not recognized. Restructuring provisions are recognized when 
DHB Bank has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has started or 
announced publicly. These kind of provisions are measured by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropri-
ate, the risks specific to the liability.

 3.13 incoMe taxes

  Current tax

   Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax rules used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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  Deferred income tax

   Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all taxable temporary differences arising be-
tween the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes, except for permanent differences for tax purposes and initial recognition of assets 
and liabilities which affect neither accounting nor taxable profit.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized when it is probable that the future economic benefits re-
sulting from the reversal of taxable temporary differences will flow to or from DHB Bank. Deferred tax assets 
are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
deferred tax asset can be utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be avail-
able to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reas-
sessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

   Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity are also recognized in equity and 
not in the income statement.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority.

 3.14 assets and liaBilities held foR sale

   Non-current assets comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily through 
sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. immediately before classification as 
held for sale, the assets are remeasured in accordance with DHB Bank’s accounting policies. Thereafter gen-
erally the assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any 
impairment loss on an assets held for sale first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and 
liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee 
benefit assets or investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance with DHB Bank’s ac-
counting policies. impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses 
on remeasurement are recognized in the income statement. Gains are not recognized in excess of any cu-
mulative impairment loss. intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for 
sale are not amortized or depreciated. in addition, equity accounting of equity-accounted investees ceases 
once classified as held for sale. 

 3.15 RecoGnition of incoMe and expenses

   Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to DHB Bank and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognized:

  a) Interest income and expense 
    interest income or expense for financial instruments is recorded at the effective yield measured at amor-
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tized cost and fair value. Effective yield exactly takes into account all accrued interests and fees with in-
terest character. These amounts are amortized through the expected life of the financial instrument or a 
shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial assets or financial liability. 

    All contractual terms of the financial instrument including any fees or incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the instrument are taken into account for the calculation of the effective yield (except fu-
ture credit losses). The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if DHB Bank 
revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the 
original effective yield and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income or expense.

    Even if the value of a certain financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been impaired, interest 
income continues to be recognized using the original effective yield applied to the new carrying amount.

  b) Fee and commission income
    DHB Bank earns fees and commission income from various services provided to customers. Fees and 

commissions against services over a period of time are generally recognized on an accrual basis. These 
fees include cash loan commissions which are not considered part of the effective yield of the related 
financial instrument, non-cash loan commissions and other fees and commissions.

    Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a 
third party are recognized on completion of the underlying transaction. Management and service fees 
are recognized based on the applicable service contracts. Fees for bank transfers and other banking 
transaction services are recorded as income when collected.

  c) Result on financial transactions
   Result on financial transactions comprises the following items:

	 	 	 •	 Foreign	currency	exchange	transactions
     Differences on foreign currency exchange transactions are recognized under ‘Result on financial 

transactions’.
	 	 	 •	 Securities	held	for	trading
     Dividends received and (un)realized gains and losses regarding securities held for trading are recog-

nized under ‘Result on financial transactions”.
	 	 	 •	 Derivatives	held	for	trading
     interest income and expenses and (un)realized gains and losses regarding derivatives held for trad-

ing are recognized under ‘Result on financial transactions’. 
	 	 	 •	 Available	for	sale	securities
     Gains and losses arising from disposals of available for sale securities are recognized under ‘Result on 

financial transactions’.

 3.16 equity coMponents

  Legal reserve 
   Legal reserve comprises the reserves set aside to comply with legal requirements and equals to the total 

amount of intangible assets.

  Revaluation reserve 
   Revaluation reserve comprises the differences between the acquisition cost and the replacement cost value 

of property in use by the bank determined by independent appraisers. This reserve is set aside on a net basis.
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  Fair value reserve
   in this component gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of available for sale assets are 

recognized, net of taxes. When the relevant assets are sold, impaired or otherwise disposed of, the related 
cumulative gain or loss recognized in equity is transferred to the income statement.

  Foreign currency translation reserve 
   Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all currency differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations net of the translation impact on foreign currency liabilities.

 3.17 cash flow stateMent

   The cash flow statement is based on the indirect method of calculation and gives details of the source of 
liquid funds, which became available during the year and the allocation of these funds. The cash flows are 
separated according to whether they arise from operating, investing, or financing activities.

   Movements in interbank deposits, loans and receivables, and deposits from customers are included in the 
cash flow from operating activities. investing activities cover purchases, sales, and redemptions in respect of 
the investment portfolio as well as investments in and sales of property and equipment and intangible as-
sets. The issue of shares, the borrowing and repayment of subordinated loans and the payment of dividends 
are treated as financing activities.

 3.18 new standaRds and inteRpRetations not yet adopted

   Many new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 
December 31, 2010, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None 
of those changes will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the DHB Bank, with 
the exception of:

   iFRS 9, Financial instruments, published on 12 November 2009 as part of phase 1 of the iASB’s comprehen-
sive project to replace iAS 39, covers classification and measurement of financial assets. The requirements 
of this standard represent a significant change from the existing requirements in iAS 39 in respect of finan-
cial assets. The standard contains two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost 
and fair value. Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if they are held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows that are solely the payments of 
principal and interest on principal outstanding. All other financial assets are measured at fair value. These 
amendments eliminate the existing iAS 39 categories of held to maturity, available for sale, and loans and 
receivables. No amount recognized in other comprehensive income would ever be classified to profit or loss 
at a later date. investments in equity instruments in respect of any entity that does not elect to present fair 
value changes in other comprehensive income would be measured at fair value, with changes in fair value 
recognized in profit or loss. The standard requires that derivatives embedded in contracts with a host that is 
a financial asset within the scope of the standard are not separated. instead, the hybrid financial instrument 
is assessed in its entirety to determine whether it should be measured at amortized cost or fair value.
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4. BAlAnce sHeet

 4.1 cash and Balances with centRal Bank

        2010 2009
  Cash in hand  971  2,785
  Balances with central banks  25,878  249,307
  Total   26,849 252,092

   This item includes all legal tender, as well as demand deposits held at the central bank in countries in which 
DHB Bank is established. These balances are kept for liquidity risk management purposes.

   The decrease of the item ‘Balances with central banks’ is the outcome of the preference of DHB Bank to in-
vest in short-term bank placements.

 4.2 financial assets and liaBilities held foR tRadinG

   The following table shows the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as of December 31, 2010 
and 2009: 

       2010 2009 
      Fair value Notional Fair value Notional
  Financial assets held for trading      
  Currency swaps  5,431  188,600  4,895 169,069
  interest rate swaps  -    -  3,281 58,677
  Credit default swaps   -    -  15 30,000
  Government bonds  -    -    9,322 9,314
  Total    5,431 188,600 17,513 267,060

  Financial liabilities held for trading      
  Currency swaps  6,795  214,806 10,099 356,500
  interest rate swaps  7,446  154,698  9,925 156,375
  Credit default swaps  3,750  20,000  749 60,000
  Total    17,991 389,504 20,773 572,875

   Currency swaps are used to fund USD and Turkish Lira assets and interest rate swaps are used to hedge in-
terest risk positions. DHB Bank sells protection using credit default swaps to generate income, and/or buys 
protection to hedge credit position. 

   All gains and losses from change in the fair values of financial instruments held for trading are recognized in 
the income statement under ‘Result on financial transactions’.
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 4.3 availaBle foR sale financial assets

        2010 2009
  Available for sale financial assets   
  Debt securities issued by banks   359,590  184,256
  Debt securities issued by corporates  14,399  46,073
  Other government bonds   19,942  21,911
  Equity instruments  -    411
  Subtotal   393,931  252,651
  Specific allowances for impairment    (521) -
  iBNR allowances for impairment    (113) -
  Total    393,297 252,651
  
   There are no subordinated available for sale financial assets.

  The available for sale financial assets developed as follows:
        2010 2009
  At January 1  252,651 411
  Reclassification EC Bank transaction   (2,658) -
  Purchases   385,929 548,169
  Sales    (237,798) (292,214)
  Redemptions  - (8,756)
  FX revaluations  4,152 4,945
  Market value revaluations  (8,345) 96
  Allowances for impairment  (634) -
  At December 31   393,297 252,651

 4.4 secuRities held to MatuRity

        2010 2009
  Securities held to maturity   
  Government (Euro)bonds   26,859 34,045
  Debt securities issued by banks   88,658  197,265
  Debt securities issued by corporates  -    3,156
  Subtotal   115,517  234,466
  Specific allowances for impairment    - (508)
  iBNR allowances for impairment    (108) (959)
  Total    115,409 232,999
  
  There are subordinated securities held to maturity amounting to 8,220 (2009: 15,184).
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  The securities held to maturity developed as follows:
        2010 2009
  At January 1  232,999 289,972
  Reclassification EC Bank transaction  (2,856) -
  Purchases   27,202 59,627
  Sales   (44,282) (26,455)
  Redemptions  (109,203) (74,868)
  FX Revaluations  11,354 (12,306)
  Changes in accrued interest  (1,164) (1,504)
  Allowances for impairment  1,359 (1,467)
  At December 31   115,409 232,999

   Within 2010, due to significant increase in the capital requirements by the Dutch Central Bank, DHB Bank 
sold Turkish treasury bonds with long maturity and corporate bonds in conformity with EU-iFRS. This sale 
from HTM portfolio is permitted under EU-iFRS due to regulatory changes, as the sales have been per-
formed in accordance with iAS 39, AG 22. According to iAS 39, AG 22, significant changes in the regulatory 
environment as a consequence of the new introduced policy rule on the treatment of concentration risk in 
emerging countries are one of the events that allows the companies to sell securities from HTM portfolio. 

 4.5 loans and ReceivaBles - Banks

   These are non-derivative exposures to banks classified as ‘loans and receivables’ and comprise also expo-
sures to central banks, which are not included in the item ’Cash and balances with central banks’. 

        2010 2009
   Money market placements  48,051  42,611
   Other loans and receivables   833,347  558,338
  Subtotal   881,398  600,949
  Specific allowances for impairment    (1,788) (5,621)
  iBNR allowances for impairment    (1,068) (675)
  Total    878,542 594,653

   The item ‘Loans and receivables – banks’ includes pledged funds amounting to 21,756 (2009: 24,117), of 
which 18,655 (2009: 23,702) serve as collateral for some swap transactions and 3,101 (2009: 415) serve as 
collateral for Credit Default Swap transactions.

   Placements with ‘Other loans and receivables’ include receivables with regard to DSB Bank amounting to 
8,923 (2009: none).

  There are no subordinated loans and receivables granted to banks.
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 4.6 loans and ReceivaBles – custoMeRs

   These are non-derivative retail and commercial loans, which are all classified as ‘loans and receivables’ and 
the following table shows the specification: 

        2010 2009
  Retail loans   40,189  89,142
  Commercial loans   304,398  555,416
  Subtotal   344,587  644,558
  Specific allowances for impairment    (6,516) (7,499)
  iBNR allowances for impairment   (134) (212)
  Total    337,937  636,847

  There are no subordinated loans and receivables granted to customers.

 4.7 pRopeRty and equipMent

  The changes in book value of property and equipment in 2010 and 2009 are as follows:
      Buildings Other fixed assets Total
  Balance at January 1, 2010   25,862  2,887  28,749 
  investments  26 370 396
  Reclassification EC Bank transaction  (11,484) (1,564) (13,048)
  Divestments   - (54) (54)
  Depreciation   (687) (1,028) (1,715)
  Exchange rate movements  (38) (7) (45)
  Balance at December 31, 2010  13,679  604  14,283 
        
  Cost   14,408  9,558  23,966 
  Cumulative depreciation and impairment (6,330)  (8,954)  (15,284) 
  Cumulative revaluations  5,601  -    5,601 

      Buildings Other fixed assets Total
  Balance at January 1, 2009  25,116 3,529 28,645
  investments  4,883 1,484 6,367 
  Divestments   (4,362) (895) (5,257) 
  Depreciation   (718) (1,232) (1,950)
  Revaluation  935 - 935
  Exchange rate movements  8 1 9
  Balance at December 31, 2009  25,862 2,887 28,749
        
  Cost   26,692  15,225 41,917
  Cumulative depreciation and impairment (6,431) (12,338) (18,769)
  Cumulative revaluations  5,601 - 5,601

   The real estate consists of office premises located in Rotterdam, the Hague, Dusseldorf, Brussels and Ant-
werp and are latest appraised separately by independent experts as per December 31, 2009. None of the 
office premises has been impaired.
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   DHB Bank does not have any restrictions on title, and property, plant and equipment pledged as security for 
liabilities (2009: none).

  DHB Bank does not have any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equip-
ment.

 4.8 intanGiBle assets

  The changes in book value of intangibles in 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

  Balance at January 1, 2010  1,096
  investments   255
  Reclassification EC Bank transaction  (926)
  Amortization   (398)
  Balance at December 31, 2010  27
      
  Cost   4,319
  Cumulative amortization  (4,292)

  Balance at January 1, 2009   958
  investments  454
  Amortization   (316)
  Balance at December 31, 2009  1,096
      
  Cost   6,117
  Cumulative amortization  (5,021)

  This item mainly includes computer software.

 4.9 incoMe tax assets

      2010 2009
  Current tax assets   4,798  3,103
  Deferred tax assets  1,442  2,009
  Total    6,240  5,112

 4.10 otheR assets

      2010 2009
  Prepayments   1,200  1,597
  Other receivables   506  1,053
  Non-current assets held for sale  -    1,741
  Other     511  346
  Total    2,217  4,737

   Assets which had been stated as collateral and obtained in the case of default are disclosed under item 
‘Other assets’. These non-current assets held for sale completely relate to EC Bank.
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 4.11 assets and liaBilities held foR sale

   Assets and liabilities held for sale compose of assets and liabilities of EC Bank after taking into account the 
intra-group eliminations.    
    2010

  ASSETS   
  Cash and balances with central banks   14,926
  Financial assets held for trading   2,909
  Available for sale financial assets  3,575
  Securities held to maturity  8,926
  Loans and receivables – banks   13,310
  Loans and receivables – customers   72,927
  Property and equipment   13,048
  intangible assets  926
  Current tax assets  75
  Other assets   2,997
  Total assets  133,619
  
  LIABILITIES   
  Due to banks   29,339
  Deposits from customers   72,985
  Provisions  285
  Other liabilities   1,331
  Total liabilities   103,940

 4.12 due to Banks

   Due to banks comprise amounts owed to banking institutions insofar as not embodied in debts evidenced 
by certificates.

      2010 2009
  Current accounts  2,541  2,845
  Time deposits   161,292  27,229
  Total    163,833  30,074

 4.13 deposits fRoM custoMeRs

  Deposits from customers comprise amounts owed to retail and commercial sector.
      2010 2009
  Current accounts  20,530  49,127
  Saving accounts   819,435  1,051,694
  Time deposits   568,657  646,103
  Total    1,408,622  1,746,924 

   This item includes pledged deposits amounting to 4,007 (2009: 13,228) which serve as collateral for loans or 
off-balance sheet credit instruments granted by DHB Bank. 
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 4.14 pRovisions

  Provisions consist of the following items:

      2010 2009
  Employee benefits  571 606
  Onerous contracts  1,907 1,455
  Estimated regulatory obligations  - 3,452
  Reorganization provision  592 -
  Other provisions   - 132
  Total    3,070 5,645

Employee benefits

 DHB Bank has both defined benefit and defined contribution obligations. Expenses related with defined 
contribution plan are directly recognized under staff cost so no provisions are set aside. DHB Bank sets aside 
provision for defined benefit plan obligations. Defined benefit plan covers 46 employees of which 18 are 
still active.

The provisions for employee benefits relate to provisions for the obligations to pay future pensions on the 
basis of a defined benefit plan. The amounts recognized in the balance sheet are as follows: 

      2010 2009
  Present value of total defined benefit obligation 3,429 2,807
  Fair value of plan assets  (2,858) (2,201)
  Present value of net obligations  571 606

The pension expense recognized in income statement is calculated as follows: 
      2010 2009
  Current service cost  129 122
  interest cost  158 132
  Expected return on plan assets  (126) (107)
  Administration cost  16 24
  Recognized (gains)/ losses on actuarial assumptions (53) 110
  Net periodic gain/ (cost)  124 281
  Employer contributions  (160) (340)
  Pension expense for the period  (36) (59)

The change in net pension provisions can be summarized as: 
      2010 2009
  Defined benefit liability at January 1  2,807 2,424
  Net periodic actuarial gain/(losses)  359 155
  Current service and interest costs  287 254
  Benefits paid by the plan  (25) (26)
  Defined benefit liability at December 31 3,428 2,807
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  The calculation assumptions for the year under review are as follows:
  Discount rate at December 31  5.10% 5.40%
  Social security increases  1.50% 1.50%
  Pension increases active participants  0.00% 0.00%
  Pension increases other participants  1.50% 1.50%
  Expected return on plan assets  5.10% 5.40%
  Collective salary increases  1.50% 1.50%
  individual salary increase average  1.50% 1.50%
  Pensionable age  65 65

For the fiscal year the discount rate was decreased from 5.40% to 5.10% to reflect the developments on 
the capital markets. On the other side the expected return on plan assets has also decreased from 5.40% to 
5.10%. Fluctuation rates are based on the average rates in The Netherlands depending on participant’s age. 
The corridor approach is not applied.

Onerous contracts

Provision for onerous rental contract relates to the rent obligations of closed branch in London, which will 
mature in 2015. The movements are as follows:

      2010 2009
  Opening balance  1,455 1,751
  Addition  826 189
  Utilization  (432) (485)
  Exchange rate movement  58 -
  Closing balance  1,907 1,455

Estimated regulatory obligations

Provisions for regulatory obligations relate to the deposit insurance scheme in The Netherlands. The move-
ments are as follows:

      2010 2009
  Opening balance  3,452 600
  Addition  130 2,852
  Utilization  (3,582) -
  Closing balance  - 3,452

Reorganization provision

Reorganization provision relates to the expected one-off severance payments for redundancies. The move-
ments are as follows:

      2010 2009
  Opening balance  - -
  Addition  831 -
  Utilization  (239) -
  Closing balance  592 -
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 4.15 incoMe tax liaBilities

      2010 2009
  Current tax liabilities  68  259
  Deferred tax liabilities  1,840  2,194
  Total    1,908  2,453

 4.16 otheR liaBilities

      2010 2009
  Accrued expenses   2,890  2,655
  Payables to suppliers   246  641
  Other liabilities   17,311  19,448
  Total   20,447  22,744

Other liabilities mainly relate to the valuation of EBRD put option and other amounts which cannot be clas-
sified with any other balance sheet items.

 4.17 shaRe capital

Referring to art. 67c, 1 f of the Dutch Civil Code, the authorized capital amounts to 227 million.  According 
to the Articles of Association the shares are subdivided into 500,000 ordinary shares, out of which 250,000 
shares have been issued and fully paid up. All of these instruments have a par value of one euro.

 4.18 faiR value ReseRve

This regards unrealized gains and losses on securities classified as available for sale, excluding impairment
losses, until the investment is derecognized.
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5. incoMe stAteMent

 5.1 net inteRest incoMe    
      2010 2009

  Interest income from:     
  Cash and balances with central banks   633  2,535
  Financial assets held for trading   257    175
  Available for sale financial assets  8,765    2,796
  Securities held to maturity  13,611  15,875
  Loans and receivables – banks   18,601  25,422
  Loans and receivables – customers   28,008  44,737
  Other interest income  153                                     1
  Subtotal  70,028                             91,541
        
  Interest expense from:    
  Due to banks  2,336 2,713
  Deposits from customers  36,790 65,145
  Other interest expense  - 132
  Subtotal  39,126 67,990

  Total   30,902  23,551

 5.2 net fee and coMMission incoMe

      2010 2009
  Letter of guarantees  209  1,877
  Letter of credits   233  261
  Cash loan  5,450  7,396
  Banking services  4,034  4,438
  Other fees and commissions  52  50
  Subtotal  9,978  14,022
  Fee and commission expense  1,049 796
  Total   8,929 13,226

 5.3 Result on financial tRansactions

       2010 2009
  Results from foreign currency exchange transactions 565 1,437
  Results from securities transactions  861 3,688
  Results from derivatives transactions  (8,006) 2,718
  Total   (6,580) 7,843

 
interest income and expense on trading positions are included in interest income and expense.

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010



58

 in this item are included also the amounts transferred from equity to the income statement on the sale of 
available for sale investments.

‘Results from derivatives transactions’ relate to the entire gains and losses from derivatives which are not 
qualifying as hedge instruments. 

 5.4 otheR opeRatinG incoMe

       2010 2009
  Other operating income  947 312

This item mainly includes non-recurring incomes.

 5.5 staff expenses

      2010 2009
  Wages and salaries  13,116  13,403
  Pension costs  1,521  1,413
  Other social security costs  1,631  1,677
  Other staff costs  746  655
  Total   17,014  17,148
   
  The current number of full-time equivalents in 2010 was 423 (2009: 425) 2010 2009
  • In The Netherlands  104 116
  • Outside The Netherlands  319 309
  Total   423 425

Pension costs consist of payments to a defined contribution plan, for which DHB Bank pays fixed contribu-
tions and there is no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions. Provisions set aside for 
defined benefit plan are also included under this item in the income statement.

The remuneration (including pension costs) of the current and former members of the Managing Board 
amounted to 1,209 in 2010 (2009: 1,180).
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board amounted to 454 (2009: 455) in 2010. 

 5.6 otheR adMinistRative expenses

       2010 2009
  Other administrative expenses  10,402 13,517

Major items in other administrative expenses are the communication and travel expenses.

This item also includes the fees for audit services provided by the bank’s auditors:
Audit-related fees  2010 2009
Audit fees related to the annual report  266 271
Tax advisory services  62 74
Other audit-related fees  15 24
Total   343 369
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 5.7 taxation

The Netherlands
Corporate income tax is levied at the rate of 25,5% (2009: 25,5%) on the worldwide income of resident com-
panies, which is determined by modifying accounting income for certain exclusions and allowances for tax 
purposes for the year 2010. A unilateral decree for the avoidance of double taxation provides relief for resi-
dent companies from Dutch tax on income, such as foreign business profits derived through a permanent 
establishment abroad, if no tax treaty applies. 

Germany
Profit is subject to trade tax, which is calculated based on rate of the local city. Trade tax is deductible for the 
calculation of corporate tax at a rate of 25%. The solidarity tax is 5,5% on corporate tax. The effective tax rate 
is estimated at 31,38%.

Belgium
The effective tax rate is 33,99% in Belgium consisting of basis tax rate of 33% and an additional tax called 
‘Extra Crise Cotisation’ at a rate of 3%.

The deferred tax effect includes 2,476 (2009: 88) realized under ‘Fair value reserve’ in ‘Other Comprehensive 
income’. This amount is netted from the gross amount of the fair value changes of available for sale financial 
assets.  

Reconciliation of effective tax rate  % 2010 % 2009
Profit before income tax    5,742  12,282
income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 25.50% 1,464 25.50% 3,132
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 5.37% 309 3.73% 459
Non-deductible expenses  0.12% 7 0.15% 18
Other   0.01% - -0.35% (43)
Total   31.00% 1,780 29.03% 3,566
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6. AdditionAl notes 
 6.1 coMMitMents and continGent liaBilities

 in the normal course of business DHB Bank is a party to activities whose risks are not reflected in whole or 
part in the consolidated financial statements. in response to the needs of its customers, DHB Bank offers 
various irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities related to loans. Fees received from these activi-
ties are recorded in the income statement when the service is delivered.

Commitments and contingent liabilities include all liabilities arising from transactions in which DHB Bank 
has provided a guarantee or entered into a commitment to third parties.

Non-credit substitute guarantees comprise letter of guarantees issued by DHB Bank.

irrevocable letters of credit mainly secure payments to third parties for a customer’s foreign and domestic 
trade transactions in order to finance a shipment of goods.

The contingent liabilities can be broken down into liabilities in respect of: 
      2010 2009
  Non-credit substitute guarantees  5,473  5,893
  irrevocable letters of credit  5,768 10,542
  irrevocable commitments  7,320  6,550
  Total   18,561 22,985

The contingent liabilities by concentrations of geographical regions can be specified as follows:
      2010 2009
  The Netherlands  694 742
  Turkey   8,237 10,241
  Rest of Europe  9,622 9,185
  Other   8 2,817
  Total   18,561  22,985

 6.2 Related paRties

Parties are considered to be related, if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise signifi-
cant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions or if majority of the shares of 
the parties are owned by the same shareholder. The related parties consist of C group, Halk group, the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board and Managing Board of DHB Bank and their relatives. As of year-end 2010, C 
Group companies consist of Demir Kyrgyz international Bank, C Faktoring A.Ş., C Yatırım Holding A.Ş., HCBG 
Holding B.V., C international Belgium SA and C international N.V. Halk group companies consist of Türkiye 
Halk Bankası A.Ş. and Halk Finansal Kiralama A.Ş.

During the year, the bank entered into a number of transactions, mainly short term, with related parties in 
the normal course of business. All of these transactions were carried out at arms-length pricing and within 
the limits and the regulatory guidelines set by the Dutch Central Bank.
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The outstanding balances with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2010 are as follow:
      Parent Other related Key management
      companies parties  and their relatives Total

   Assets        
  Loans and receivables – banks  145,043 - - 145,043
  Loans and receivables – customers  - 31,749 - 31,749

  Liabilities     
  Due to banks  17,692 853 - 18,545
  Deposits from customers  4,456 624 421 5,501
           of which received cash collaterals for loans 4,007 - - 4,007

  Contingent liabilities        
  Letter of credits  - 60 - 60
  Guarantees  - - 1,955 1,955

The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the financial statements for the year 2010 
are as follows:

 
      Parent Other related Key management 
      companies parties  and their relatives Total

  interest income  3,720 1,985 - 5,705
  interest expense  263 10 144 417
 
  Commission income  218 20 15 253
  Commission expense  352 39 4 395

The outstanding balances with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2009 are as follows:
         
      Parent Other related Key management 
      companies parties  and their relatives Total

  Assets        
  Loans and receivables – banks  51,735 - - 51,735
  Loans and receivables – customers  - 42,472 9 42,481

  Liabilities     
  Due to banks  554 74 - 628
  Deposits from customers  10,385 801 11,300 22,486
           of which received cash collaterals for loans 4,007 9,221 - 13,228

  Contingent liabilities       
  Letter of credits  27 160 - 187
  Guarantees  - - 1,822 1,822
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The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the financial statements for the year 2009 
are as follows:
        

      Parent Other related Key management 
      companies parties  and their relatives Total

  interest income  4,807 2,894 4 7,705
  interest expense  535 37 425 997
         
  Commission income  25 27 - 52
  Commission expense  111 - - 111

 6.3 capital adequacy

 The capital adequacy requirements of the Dutch Central Bank (DNB) are based on the guidelines of the 
European Commission and the Basel Committee for Banking Supervision. The own funds should cover the 
credit risk of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items, the market risk of the trading portfolio and the 
operational risk. Complementary, DNB requires additional capital for country risk exposure based on the 
new introduced policy rule on the treatment of concentration risk in emerging countries, which would be 
implemented gradually within a two-year period. 

DHB Bank’s total own funds, the capital ratio and the Tier 1 capital figures as of December 31, 2010 and the 
previous year are as follows:

       2010 2009 
      Required Actual Required Actual
  Total capital   120,156 201,505 126,030 196,890
  Total capital ratio   8.00% 13.42% 8.00% 12.50%
  Tier 1 capital   116,402 197,751 122,170 193,030
  Tier 1 ratio   7.75% 13.17% 7.75% 12.25%
  Solvency ratio  13.42% 12.50% 

 6.4 faiR value MeasuReMent of assets and liaBilities

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledge-
able, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date. The fair value of the market-
able securities and derivatives that are traded on an organized exchange is measured on the basis of quoted 
prices. An existing quotation of the financial instrument gives the best evidence for fair value. 

Where a market is not active, and where quoted prices do not exist for a financial instrument, the bank es-
tablishes fair value by using quoted prices for similar instruments in terms of risk category and product char-
acteristics, or valuation techniques. The valuation techniques incorporate assumptions that other market 
participants would consider in setting a price, including assumptions about default rates and interest yield 
curves. These techniques include present value approaches where present values of future cash flows from 
the asset are estimated using a risk-adjusted interest rate. in particular, the discount rates include credit 
spreads derived from prices of debt securities with different rating categories. 

The estimated fair value at any particular point in time depends on prevailing circumstances and is not al-
ways strictly comparable with the information provided by different financial institutions. The bank regu-
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larly performs a review of valuations in light of available pricing evidence and other market data.
Other securities belonging to the investment portfolio are stated at market value taking the average mid-
quotes at year-end from five price contributors that have actively and regularly provided quotes during the 
relevant trading period.

      31 December 2010 31 December 2009 
     Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

  Assets    
  Cash with central banks 25,878 25,878 249,307 249,307
  Financial assets held for trading 5,431 5,431 17,513 17,513
  Available for sale financial assets 393,297 393,297 252,651 252,651
  Securities held to maturity 115,409 115,313 232,999 232,770
  Loans and receivables – banks 878,542 860,378 594,653 581,517
  Loans and receivables – customers 337,937 351,416 636,847 659,657
  Total  1,756,494 1,751,713 1,983,970 1,993,415
    
  Liabilities    
  Due to banks 163,833 163,833 30,074 30,074
  Financial liabilities held for trading 17,991 17,991 20,773 20,773
  Deposits from customers 1,408,622 1,408,622 1,746,924 1,746,924
  Total  1,590,446 1,590,446 1,797,771 1,797,771

DHB Bank discloses fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs 
used in making the measurements. 

• Level 1:  Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.
• Level 2:  Valuation techniques based on observable inputs either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived 

from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly 
or indirectly observable from market data. 

• Level 3:  Valuation techniques based on significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instru-
ments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the ob-
servable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.

Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments as at 31 December 2010
      Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
  Financial assets              
  Financial assets held for trading   - 5,431 - 5,431
  Available for sale financial assets  393,297 - - 393,297
  
  Financial liabilities      
  Financial liabilities held for trading  - 17,991 - 17,991
  Other liabilities - EBRD put option  - 10,331 - 10,331
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Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments as at 31 December 2009
      Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
  Financial assets              
  Financial assets held for trading   - 17,513  - 17,513 
  Available for sale financial assets  252,651  - - 252,651 
  
  Financial liabilities      
  Financial liabilities held for trading  - 20,773 -    20,773 
  Other liabilities - EBRD put option  - 9,449 - 9,449

 6.5 suBsequent events

DHB Bank signed a share purchase agreement with Halkbank on November 26, 2010 regarding the transfer 
of 66.56% of EC Bank shares from DHB Bank to Halkbank. According to the agreement DHB Bank will also 
be obliged to buy another 25% of EC Bank shares from EBRD by exercising its call option and to sell them to 
Halkbank at a pre-determined price per share.

The additional 25% of EC Bank shares have already been recognized by DHB Bank in accordance with EU-
iFRS. According to EU-iFRS, if a put option granted to the minority shareholders provides for settlement 
in cash or in another financial asset by the entity then the entity should recognize a liability for the pre-
sent value of the exercise price of the option. DHB Bank used the Anticipated Acquisition Method which 
accounts such written put options as an anticipated acquisition of the underlying minority interests as if the 
put option had been exercised already. This is independent of how the exercise price is determined (fixed or 
variable) and how likely the exercise of the option. DHB Bank recognized its financial liabilities regarding the 
put option of EBRD for EC Bank shares in accordance with EU-iFRS and the 25% shares of EBRD starting from 
the date of the initial transaction, which would increase its share in EC Bank to 91.56%.

The total sale/purchase price of the 91.56% of EC Bank shares is set at EUR 19.5 million. Subsequent to the 
date of the agreement any positive or negative impact on the profitability or asset quality of EC Bank will 
not have an impact on the share sale/purchase price. 

All other terms and conditions of the acquisition are mutually agreed by both parties as stated in the signed 
agreement. Turkish Banking Regulatory and Supervisory Agency (BRSA) and National Bank of the Republic 
of Macedonia (NBRM) already approved the sale & purchase and the transaction is expected to be fully com-
pleted within a short period of time.
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7. Risk MAnAgeMent 
Effective risk management and capital management are fundamental to the bank’s business and play a crucial 
role in enabling management to operate successfully in a changing environment. Exposure to risk is inherent in 
providing financial services and DHB Bank assumes a variety of risks in its ordinary business activities, the most 
significant being credit risk related to loans and receivables.

The bank’s bank-wide risk management approach is supported by organizational structure, policies and proce-
dures as well as methods for identifying, measuring, assessing and controlling risks. Furthermore, the risk man-
agement framework is supported by a strong risk culture at all levels. The maintenance of risk awareness in the 
organization is regarded as an essential component for DHB Bank’s business strategies.

DHB Bank’s ability to define risks is regarded a key competency. Our measurement models and techniques are 
continually subject to assessment for appropriateness and reliability. For those risk types that are difficult to 
quantify, the bank places greater emphasis on qualitative risk factors and assessment of activities to gauge the 
overall level of risks to ensure that they are within approved risk appetite.

 Risk types and theiR ManaGeMent

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of encountering loss associated with an obligor’s inability or unwillingness to fulfill its obliga-
tions towards DHB Bank. Losses associated with credit risk include either the actual default of repayment or a loss 
of value in the financial assets caused by the decrease in its respective credit quality. Credit risk stems from vari-
ous forms of lending to customers, but also from counterparty risk, transfer risk and settlement risk. The bank is 
exposed to credit risk mainly through its wholesale and retail lending activities.

The management of credit risk covers the whole lending process, from target market definition to the collection 
of lending proceeds, as well as credit portfolio management. DHB Bank applies thorough approval procedures for 
loans and advances supported by an internal credit rating system, consistent credit risk exposure measurements 
and appropriate pricing policy.

The bank ensures that credit quality is not compromised for growth by applying separate limits for all lending ac-
tivities, which are approved by the Supervisory Board in accordance with the credit approval procedures. Whole-
sale loans are granted by the Supervisory Board. However, for flexibility and responsiveness the Credit Committee 
has approval authority to a certain amount. As for retail credits, the acceptance criteria are drawn up and reviewed 
separately by the Retail Loans Department under the approval authority granted by the Managing Board.

The bank dedicates considerable resources to controlling credit risk effectively. Operating under a sound credit 
administration, measurement, monitoring and reporting process, DHB Bank strives to maintain appropriate con-
trol over credit risk at portfolio, obligor group and individual facility level. Credit monitoring is carried out at indi-
vidual borrower level by the Credit Appraisal and Risk Management Department, which conducts credit reviews 
and reports to the Credit Committee on a regular basis. Credit risk assessment at the portfolio level is also con-
ducted periodically by the Financial Risk Modeling & Assessment Department, which reports directly to the Man-
aging Board.

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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The Credit Committee receives the following regular reports for the purpose of identifying, measuring, monitor-
ing and controlling the bank’s credit risks:

• evaluation of credit requests;
• review of the quality of debtors relative to facilities provided;
• analysis of country risks and economic sectors;
• measurement of concentration on a sectoral and geographical basis;
• large customer group exposures;
• impaired assets and impairment allowances.

Credit risk may also arise due to derivative transactions. The bank enters into derivative contracts primarily to 
hedge FX, interest rate and credit risks positions. Positive market values on derivative contracts imply a counter-
party risk, which the bank actively manages through netting agreements, as well as collateral agreements with 
derivative counterparties, which are reputable international banks.

 cRedit exposuRe

The bank’s credit exposure is calculated on the basis of items on and off the balance sheet with credit risk. The 
credit exposure relating to lending activities comprises items subject to credit risk that form part of the bank’s 
core banking business, whereas the exposure subject to counterparty risk form part of the bank’s derivatives, 
including hedging, activities.

The following table shows the credit risk for the various components of the balance sheet:

      2010 2009
 Cash with central banks  25,878  249,307 
 Financial assets held for trading  5,431  17,513 
 Available for sale financial assets  393,297  252,651 
 Securities held to maturity  115,409  232,999 
 Loans and receivables - banks  878,542  594,653 
 Loans and receivables - customers  337,937  636,847 
 Total on-balance sheet items  1,756,494  1,983,970 
       
 Contingent liabilities L/G, CDS*  20,474 95,893 
 Contingent liabilities L/C  5,767 10,542 
 irrevocable commitments  7,320 6,550
 Total off-balance sheet items  33,561 112,985

 Total credit risk  1,790,055 2,096,955

*  Contingent liabilities are disclosed in a broader sense in this section by including the nominal amount of CDS in the 
respective	total.

The amounts stated in the table represent the maximum accounting loss, net of allowances, which would be rec-
ognized on the balance sheet date if all counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted, and if any col-
lateral or security proved to be of no value.



67

 collateRal and otheR cRedit enhanceMent

Mitigating risks in the credit portfolio is a key element of the bank’s credit policies. important means of risk mit-
igation are collaterals and guarantees received. The bank determines the amount and type of collateral that a 
customer may be required to provide as security to the bank. Collaterals are essentially obtained prior to the dis-
bursement of the approved loans. As a general rule, the lower the perceived creditworthiness of a borrower, the 
more collateral the customer will be required to provide.

The following table shows the amounts and types of collateral:

 cRedit Risk concentRation

Concentrations of credit risk (either on- or off-balance sheet) arise when exposures share similar characteristics 
due to which their ability to meet contractual obligations is likely to be affected in a similar way by changes in 
economic or other factors. As part of its credit risk management, the bank has established internal concentration 
limits that are monitored on a regular basis, including limits for exposures to both portfolios and single obligors. 

Cash with 
central 
banks

Financial 
assets held 
for trading 

 Available for 
sale financial 

assets 

Securities 
held to 

maturity 

Loans and 
receivables - 

banks

Loans and 
receivables - 

customers 

Contingent 
liabilities 
L/G, CDS

Contingent 
liabilities 

L/C

irrevocable 
   commit-

ments

Total
 2010

Securities guaranteed by governments – – 6,521 – – – – – – 6,521

Loans guaranteed by banks – – – – – 1,003 – – – 1,003

Loans guaranteed by mortgage – – – – – 31,481 1,419 480 – 33,380

Loans guaranteed by cash collateral – – – – – 4,080 409 – – 4,489

Loans guaranteed by third parties – – – – – 53,448 – – – 53,448

Others/unsecured 25,878 5,431 386,776 115,409 878,542 247,925 18,646 5,287 7,320 1,691,214

Total 25,878 5,431 393,297 115,409 878,542 337,937 20,474 5,767 7,320 1,790,055

Cash with 
central 
banks

Financial 
assets held 
for trading 

 Available for 
sale financial 

assets 

Securities 
held to 

maturity 

Loans and 
receivables - 

banks

Loans and 
receivables - 

customers 

Contingent 
liabilities 
L/G, CDS

Contingent 
liabilities 

L/C

irrevocable 
   commit-

ments

Total
 2009

Loans guaranteed by banks – – – – – 174 1,412 9,984 772 12,342

Loans guaranteed by mortgage – – – – – 119,887 1,031  –  – 120,918

Loans guaranteed by cash collateral – – – – – 15,622 459  –  – 16,081

Loans guaranteed by third parties – – – – – 136,743  –  –  – 136,743

Others/unsecured 249,307 17,513 252,651 232,999 594,653 364,421  92,991 558 5,778 1,810,871

Total 249,307 17,513 252,651 232,999 594,653 636,847 95,893 10,542 6,550 2,096,955
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Cash with 
central 
banks

Financial 
assets held 
for trading

Available 
for sale 

financial 
assets

Securities 
held to 

maturity

Loans 
and re-

ceivables 
- banks

Loans and 
receivables 

- custom-
ers

Commit-
ments and 
contingent 

liabilities Total 2010 %

Turkey - 216 20,324 34,295 690,907 289,981 8,238 1,043,961 58.3%

Russia - - 79,043 41,613  62,845 - - 183,501 10.3%

The Netherlands i 23,629 - 36,796 18,240 24,020 13,887 694 117,266 6.6%

United States of America - 1,091 94,841 - 762 - - 96,694 5.4%

United Kingdom - 3,711 40,507 - 18,348 8,961 205 71,732 4.0%

italy - - 11,445 - - - 15,137 26,582 1.5%

Belgium - - - - 6,214 17,647 1,961 25,822 1.4%

Greece - - 14,307 10,486 - - - 24,793 1.4%

Azerbaijan - - - - 20,364 - - 20,364 1.1%

Germany 2,249 413 5,372 - 5,273 6,056 1 19,364 1.1%

Switzerland - - 10,047 - 740 984 - 11,771 0.7%

Macedonia - - - - 2 - 7,257 7,259 0.4%

Multilateral Development Banks - - - - 30,258 - - 30,258 1.7%

Others - -  80,615 10,775 18,809 421 68 110,688 6.1%

Total 25,878 5,431 393,297 115,409 878,542 337,937 33,561 1,790,055 100.0%

Cash with 
central 
banks

Financial 
assets held 
for trading

Available 
for sale 

financial 
assets

Securities 
held to 

maturity

Loans 
and re-

ceivables 
- banks 

Loans and 
receivables 

- custom-
ers

Commit-
ments and 
contingent 

liabilities Total 2009 %

Turkey  -      -       -       52,680     384,196   431,232   10,241 878,349 41.9%

The Netherlands i     236,421 6 30,912 48,031 12,211 20,812 20,742         369,135 17.6%

Russia                  -                  -                 -        88,372 65,421 21,058 -         174,851 8.3%

Macedonia      8,736         6,731                -        2,857              5 51,745 4,949           75,023 3.6%

United States of America             -         1,604      50,470                -       8,954 11,052 -           72,080 3.4%

israel              -               -               -      15,129     46,120 4,813 -           66,062 3.2%

Germany      2,074          2,797        8,602                 -        7,522 9,442 35,004           65,441 3.1%

United Kingdom               -        1,372      24,569                -      12,521 10,412 12,137           61,011 2.9%

italy               -                   -       19,097         9,426      11,852                       - 15,232           55,607 2.7%

Belgium       2,076          239               -                  -        5,624 34,024 1,834           43,797 2.1%

Saudi Arabia              -                 -                -                   -               - 27,854 2,810           30,664 1.5%

Switzerland              -         2,173        8,066                -       2,030 9,023 10,000           31,292 1.4%

Multilateral Development Banks - - - - 13,942 - - 13,942 0.7%

Others               -         2,591     110,935        16,504 24,255 5,380 36 159,701 7.6%

Total 249,307 17,513 252,651 232,999    594,653  636,847 112,985 2,096,955 100.0%

in the following table, exposures are split by important exposure classes and main geographical areas, based on 
where the credit risk is referable, according to the ultimate ownership criterion:

Country exposures are managed through internal limits set by the Supervisory Board at consolidated levels, on 
which the monitoring process is based. 

 i Balances with ECB are classified in The Netherlands.
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in the following table, loans and receivables and the off-balance sheet exposures are split by economic sectors.

    2010 2009 
Sectors   On-balance Off-balance On-balance Off-balance
Financial institutions and insurance 168,033 15,205 143,070  90,524 
Construction and infrastructure 31,334 5,233 92,317  10,061 
Communications and  post 20,342 3,031 21,171  2,810 
Metals   19,542 206 71,191  2,141 
Energy   16,019 - 45,585  -   
Media and advertising 12,790 - 18,658  49 
Food & beverage 12,165 25 28,305  49 
Petroleum refining & other related industries 8,719 - 14,081  -   
Tourism   4,233 199 50,175  193 
Mining and quarrying - - 19,442  90 
Others   8,226 3,748 50,783  4,303 
Total    301,403 27,647 554,778  110,220 

Private individuals / self- employed 43,183 5,914 89,780  2,823 
Total    344,586 33,561 644,558  113,043 

Allowances for impairment (6,649) - (7,711) (58)
Total loans and receivables - customers 337,937 33,561 636,847  112,985

in line with the requirements of DNB, the bank has no exposure to any single counterparty exceeding the legal 
lending limit.

 cRedit quality of financial assets

An indication of the overall credit quality of the bank’s financial assets can be derived from the table below, which 
shows exposures that are neither past due nor impaired, past due but not impaired, impaired loans and respective 
provisions.

      2010 2009
 Neither past due nor impaired  1,784,280 2,078,550 
 Past due but not impaired  182 11,015 
 impaired   15,841 22,922 
 Provisions   (10,248) (15,532)
 Total     1,790,055 2,096,955 

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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The credit quality of the portfolio of financial assets by external rating is presented in the following table:

      2010 2009
 investment grade   614,190 862,583 
 Non-investment grade  875,783 628,478 
 Unrated    300,082 605,894 
 Total     1,790,055 2,096,955 

The creditworthiness of the customers that are not rated by external rating agencies is assessed with reference to 
the bank’s internal credit rating system, which reflects the probability of default by an obligor. The borrower rat-
ing is based on many factors derived from a financial and non-financial analysis of the borrower. 

The assessment and administration of past due and impaired loans, write-offs and specific provisions fall under 
the responsibilities of the Credit Appraisal and Risk Management Department and the Credit Committee. 

The credit policy requires an exposure to be transferred immediately to the past due obligation category if the 
principal or interest of this exposure is not paid.

The table below shows the analysis of the financial assets that are past due but not impaired.

 Ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired 2010 2009
 Past due up to 30 days  138 2,702
 Past due 31 - 60 days  20 176
 Past due 61 - 90 days  12 182
 Past due over 90 days and under re-negotiated terms 12 7,955
 Total     182 11,015

When deemed necessary, loans are also classified as impaired as soon as there is doubt about the borrower’s abil-
ity to meet its future payment obligations to the bank in accordance with the original contractual terms. 

Provisions for loan losses are set aside for estimated losses on outstanding loans for which there is any doubt 
about the borrower’s capacity to repay the principal and/or interest, and are determined through a combination 
of specific reviews, historical data and estimates. Provisions for loan losses are determined separately for each 
exposure for wholesale loans, and according to a pre-defined model for retail loans.

in addition, the bank also provides provisions to cover potential loan losses on a collective basis based on an 
incurred but not reported (iBNR) loss method. For the purpose of calculating the iBNR loss, individually assessed 
loans and receivables for which no evidence of loss has been specifically identified on an individual basis are 
grouped together according similar risk characteristics, taking into account credit rating, exposure class, industry 
and geographical location.

The method involves the use of statistically assessed historical information. The historical loss experience is ad-
justed based on current observable information to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the 
period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical 
period that do not currently exist.

The method also takes into account the estimated period between an impairment event occurring and the loss 
being identified and evidenced by the establishment of an appropriate allowance against the individual loan. The 
loss identification periods vary across exposure and ratings and based on actual experience. 
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The movements of the specific allowances for impairment for the year 2010 are as follows:

Available for sale 
financial assets

Securities
 held to

 maturity

Loans and 
receivables - 

banks 

Loans and 
receivables - 

customers

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities
Total

Opening balance - 508 5,621 7,499 58 13,686
Reclassification EC Bank 
transaction

- -   -   (1,992) - (1,992) 

Addition 521 -   - 1,312 -   1,833
Release - (508) (2,948) (182) (58) (3,696)
Write-off  -   -   (1,140) (180) - (1,320) 
Exchange rate movement - - 255 59 - 314
Closing balance 521 - 1,788 6,516 -   8,825

The movements of the iBNR allowances for impairment for the year 2010 are as follows:

Available for sale 
financial assets

Securities
 held to

 maturity

Loans and 
receivables - 

banks 

Loans and 
receivables - 

customers

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities
Total

Opening balance - 959 675 212 - 1,846
Addition 113 -   393 - -   506
Release - (851) - (78) - (929)
Closing balance 113 108 1,068 134 -   1,423

The movements of the specific allowances for impairment for the year 2009 are as follows:

Available for sale 
financial assets

Securities
 held to

 maturity

Loans and 
receivables - 

banks 

Loans and 
receivables - 

customers

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities
Total

Opening balance 63 527 3,099 7,774 - 11,463
Addition - 22 3,542 3,003 58 6,625
Release (35) - (675) (3,085) - (3,795)
Write-off (28) - - (156) - (184)
Exchange rate movement - (41) (345) (37) - (423)
Closing balance - 508 5,621 7,499 58 13,686

The movements of the iBNR allowances for impairment for the year 2009 are as follows:

Available for sale 
financial assets

Securities
 held to

 maturity

Loans and 
receivables - 

banks 

Loans and 
receivables - 

customers

Commitments 
and contingent 

liabilities
Total

Opening balance - - 3,093 2,281 - 5,374
Addition - 959 - - - 959
Release - - (2,418) (2,069) - (4,487)
Closing balance - 959 675 212 - 1,846

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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the light of differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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The balance of total provisions for impaired assets decreased from 15.5 million in 2009 to 10.2 million in 2010 as 
credit conditions in the bank’s key markets have shown improvements. Although provisions for loan losses are 
considered adequate, the use of different methods and assumptions could produce different provisions for loan 
losses, and amendments may be required in the future as a consequence of changes in the expected loss, the 
value of collateral and other economic events. 

Provisions against a particular impaired loan may be released where there is improvement in the quality of the 
loan. The bank’s write-off policies are determined on a case by case basis. For restructured loans, the policy ena-
bles reclassification of a restructured loan into a performing loan when a certain number of repayments are ex-
ecuted.

Loans with renegotiated items are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration on the borrrower’s fi-
nancial position and where DHB Bank has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of being unable to meet the bank’s current or future payment obligations with-
out incurring unacceptable cost or loss. The ability to maintain a sufficient level of liquidity is crucial to financial 
institutions, particularly in maintaining appropriate levels of liquidity during periods of adverse conditions. The 
bank’s funding strategy is to ensure adequate liquidity and the availability of various funding sources to meet 
actual and contingent liabilities during both stable and adverse conditions.

The Treasury Department is responsible for managing the liquidity risk of the bank and evaluating the respective 
positions on a daily basis. Once a week, the ALCO Committee monitors liquidity trends, tracks historical and pro-
spective on- and off-balance sheet liquidity obligations, and identifies and measures internal and external liquid-
ity warning signals to allow the early detection of liquidity issues. Furthermore, the impact of possible unforeseen 
occurrences on the bank’s liquidity situation is assessed regularly utilizing scenario analyses. Liquidity, defined as 
available versus required, is reported to DNB on a monthly basis.

The following table provides an overview that slots the balance sheet of the bank into relevant maturity buckets 
based on the remaining contractual maturity periods of the principals, as well as the expected interest cash flows. 
in this respect, with a conservative approach, the total amount of savings accounts is placed in the on-demand 
maturity bucket even though it traditionally demonstrates a stable pattern. in contrast, available for sale financial 
assets are placed in maturity buckets according to their respective maturities even though they are readily avail-
able as source of liquidity.
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  December 31, 2010 On demand Up to 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 year Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 26,849 - - - - 26,849
Financial assets held for trading         - 5,307   124   -   -       5,431
Available for sale financial assets          - 5,015   13,285   345,168   29,829       393,297
Securities held to maturity          - 16,373   28,453   68,810   1,773        115,409
Loans and receivables - banks         11,292 195,267   477,966   182,617   11,400 878,542
Loans and receivables - customers          10,713 154,797   48,826   111,969   11,632       337,937
Property and equipment          14,283 - - - - 14,283
intangible assets          27 - - - - 27
Current tax assets          4,798 - - - - 4,798
Deferred tax assets 1,442 - - - - 1,442
Other assets          2,217 - - - -       2,217
Assets held for sale 133,619 - - - - 133,619
Total assets 205,240 376,759 568,654   708,564   54,634       1,913,851

Liabilities
Due to banks          2,541 161,292   - - - 163,833
Financial liabilities held for trading          - 6,829   845   8,578   1,739        17,991
Deposits from customers 839,845 102,320   209,641   256,816   - 1,408,622
Provisions - - 3,070   - - 3,070   
Current tax liabilities      68 - - - - 68
Deferred tax liabilities 1,840 - - - - 1,840
Other liabilities 20,447 - - - -        20,447
Liabilities held for sale 103,940 - - - - 103,940
Total liabilities 968,681 270,441 213,556 265,394 1,739 1,719,811

Net liquidity gap (763,441) 106,318   355,098 443,170   52,895 194,040
Net liquidity cumulative gap (763,441) (657,123)   (302,025)   141,145   194,040

The immediately available liquidity of DHB Bank consisting of cash and the ECB eligible securities valued after 
the ECB haircuts as of year-end 2010 was EUR 259.6 million, representing 13.6% of the balance sheet size.

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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  December 31, 2009 On demand Up to 3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 year Total

Assets
Cash and balances with central banks          252,092 –   –   –   –        252,092 
Financial assets held for trading – 6,836 5,220 3,789 1,668 17,513
Available for sale financial assets 411 – 7,558 244,682 – 252,651
Securities held to maturity 2,857 40,606 47,781 112,073 29,682 232,999
Loans and receivables - banks 17,218 38,006 473,624 55,348 10,457 594,653
Loans and receivables - customers 25,094 90,338 186,595 213,021 121,799 636,847
Property and equipment 28,749 –   –   –   – 28,749
intangible assets 1,096 –   –   –   – 1,096
Current tax assets 3,103 –   –   –   – 3,103
Deferred tax assets 2,009 –   –   –   – 2,009
Other assets 4,737 –   –   –   – 4,737
Total assets 337,366 175,786 720,778 628,913 163,606 2,026,449

Liabilities
Due to banks 3,079 4,022 3,826 19,147 – 30,074
Financial liabilities held for trading – 11,739 3,932 4,235 867 20,773
Deposits from customers 1,102,050 177,418 227,729 239,727 – 1,746,924
Provisions 5,645 –   –   –   – 5,645
Current tax liabilities 259 –   –   –   – 259
Deferred tax liabilities 2,194 –   –   –   – 2,194
Other liabilities 22,744 –   –   –   – 22,744
Total liabilities 1,135,971 193,179 235,487 263,109 867    1,828,613

Net liquidity gap (798,605) (17,393)    485,291 365,804 162,739    197,836 
Net liquidity cumulative gap (798,605) (815,998) (330,707) 35,097       197,836       

Market risk

Market risk is the exposure to an adverse impact on the market value of portfolios and financial instruments 
caused by changes in market prices and rates. Market risk is identified, measured, and monitored by Financial 
Risk Modeling & Assessment Department, a risk management function independent from the lines of business 
working in partnership with the business segments. The unit seeks to recommend efficient risk/return decisions 
and reduce volatility in the operating performance, and to present the bank’s market risk profile to the manage-
ment. The bank makes use of a combination of risk, earnings and regulatory parameters to manage market risk.
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 pRice Risk

Price risk arises from positions in trading books that may lead to a potential decline in net income (i.e. economic 
sensitivity) due to adverse changes in market rates. The risk position is quantified using various metrics, both sta-
tistical and non-statistical.

The bank’s primary statistical risk measure, Value-at-Risk (VaR), estimates the potential loss from adverse market 
moves in an ordinary market environment and provides a consistent cross-business measure of risk profiles. For 
internal management purposes, DHB bank evaluates the market risk of positions it holds using different VaR meth-
ods, i.e. historical simulation, the exponentially weighted moving average (EWMA) and the ‘Monte-Carlo Simula-
tion’. The VaR approach is not applied to determine the solvency requirement for market risk but forms an integral 
part of the bank’s risk management framework. 

The bank sets VaR limits for total market risk, which is further allocated into foreign exchange and other price risks 
limits. ALCO reviews and approves the overall structure of the VaR limits.

Trading book being absent as at December 31, 2010, the following table reports the VaR of the bank’s FX net open 
position based on historical simulation for a confidence level of 99% and 10 days holding period.

 VaR of FX position  2010 2009
 Max     (361) (197)
 Min     (3) (2)
 Average    (26) (23)
 End of year   (14) (20)

VaR is a risk measure that has limitations. it quantifies potential losses under the assumption of normal market 
conditions. The shortcomings are especially material during severe general market and exceptional market de-
velopments; therefore to counter-balance this weakness, non-statistical tools are applied to control risk, including 
net open position and stop-loss limits. The bank also implements back-testing to monitor the effectiveness of the 
VaR model in practice and carries out regular stress testing to evaluate the financial impact of a variety of excep-
tional market scenarios.

 
 inteRest Rate Risk

interest rate risk is related to changes in the fair value or the future cash flows of interest-bearing financial instru-
ments resulting from changes in the market rates of interest. The bank is exposed to interest rate risk when there 
are differences between amounts or interest rates in the interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities 
within specified re-pricing bands. Using scenarios, duration indicators and the economic capital concept, a bal-
ance is struck between the interest rate risk and the current and future net interest income. This is achieved by 
active management of the assets and liabilities and the use of hedging instruments.

To evaluate interest rate risk from an earnings perspective, we use scenario analyses involving various shifts in 
market rates in relevant currencies. Assuming a constant balance sheet position and an instantaneous upward 
1% parallel movement in market rates, the sensitivity of the net interest earnings over a time period of one year is 
shown in the following table for the year ending December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 respectively:

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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Within year 2010 End of Year 2010

Sensitivity 1 Year Earning Min Max Average

100 bps instantaneous increase 1,941 3,842 2,930 3,120

Within year 2009 End of Year 2009

Sensitivity 2 Year Earning Min Max Average

100 bps instantaneous increase 408 6,092 2,276 2,000

Within year 2010 End of Year 2010

Sensitivity of economic value of equity 
to interest rate movements

Min Max Average

100 bps instantaneous increase 81 4,375 2,657 2,727

`

Within year 2009 End of Year 2009

Sensitivity of economic value of equity 
to interest rate movements

Min Max Average

100 bps instantaneous increase (2,179) 4,619 262 614

The scenarios assume pro-forma interest rate shocks and do not take any account of the possible effects of an 
active response on the part of the bank to avoid the downside effects of the shifts, or the response on the part of 
customers to interest rate movements.

Apart from the scenario-based analysis, the bank also estimates the effects of interest rate movements on the 
economic value of equity. The sensitivity of the economic value of equity using an upward movement of 100 basis 
points, and ignoring all option elements, is presented in the following table for the year ending December 31, 
2010 and December 31, 2009 respectively.

 cuRRency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of changes in the fair value or the future cash flows of financial instruments result-
ing from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The bank is exposed to currency risk, particularly to changes 
between EUR and USD rates since significant amounts of assets are generated and booked in USD. While currency 
risk is almost fully avoided through FX swap transactions, open positions are monitored and reviewed by the As-
set & Liability Management Committee, taking action where necessary. The management sets out the limits ac-
cording to net foreign currency position rules determined by the Dutch Central Bank (DNB). 



77

December 31, 2010 EUR USD TRY GBP CHF Others Total 

Cash and balances with central banks 26,816 29                   – 4 – – 26,849

Financial assets held for trading 5,431 – – – – – 5,431

Available for sale financial assets 302,842 90,455 – – – – 393,297

Securities held to maturity 48,543 66,866 – – – – 115,409

Loans and receivables - banks 807,648 69,267 128 675 740 84 878,542

Loans and receivables - customers 113,806 81,922 139,511 2,698 – – 337,937

Property and equipment 14,283 – – – – – 14,283

intangible assets 27 – – – – – 27

Current tax assets 4,798 – – – – – 4,798

Deferred tax assets 1,442 – – – – – 1,442

Other assets 2,217 – – – – – 2,217

Assets held for sale 133,619 – – – – – 133,619

Total assets 1,461,472 308,539 139,639 3,377 740 84 1,913,851

Due to banks 136,576 16,227 10,150 163 717 – 163,833

Financial liabilities held for trading 5,810 12,181 – – – – 17,991

Deposits from customers 1,401,915 6,136 384 170 3 14 1,408,622

Provisions 3,070 – – – – – 3,070

Current tax liabilities 68 – – – – – 68

Deferred tax liabilities 1,840 – – – – – 1,840

Other liabilities 20,436 – 11 – – – 20,447

Liabilities held for sale 103,940 – – – – – 103,940

Total non-equity liabilities 1,673,655 34,544 10,545 333 720 14 1,719,811

Net gap (212,183) 273,995 129,094 3,044 20 70 194,040

Net open currency position after FX 
and interest rate swaps

(188) 122 (25) 2 19 70

December 31, 2009 EUR USD TRY GBP CHF Others Total 

Cash and balances with central banks 246,803 56 – 24 36 5,173 252,092 

Financial assets held for trading 14,613 219 894 – – 1,787 17,513

Available for sale financial assets 252,240 – – – 411 252,651

Securities held to maturity 64,657 166,380 – – – 1,962 232,999

Loans and receivables - banks 457,314 135,033 302 1,372 430 202 594,653

Loans and receivables - customers 370,079 243,838 2,954 258 85 19,633 636,847

Property and equipment 14,996 – – – – 13,753 28,749

intangible assets 37 – – – – 1,059 1,096

Current tax assets 2,960 – – – – 143 3,103

Deferred tax assets 2,009 – – – – – 2,009

Other assets 2,102 – – – – 2,635 4,737

Total assets 1,427,810 545,526 4,150 1,654 551 46,758 2,026,449

Due to banks 23,872 142 2,738 139 47 3,136 30,074

Financial liabilities held for trading 14,433 6,340 – – – – 20,773

Deposits from customers 1,707,329 12,466 608 158 275 26,088 1,746,924

Provisions 4,246 – – 1,267 – 132 5,645

Current tax liabilities 259 – – – – – 259 

Deferred tax liabilities 1,779 – – – – 415 2,194

Other liabilities 21,596 – – – – 1,148 22,744

Total non-equity liabilities 1,773,514 18,948 3,346 1,564 322 30,919 1,828,613

Net gap (345,704) 526,578 804 90 229 15,839 197,836

Net open currency position after FX 
and interest rate swaps

5,080 177 (114) 90 (39) 5,194)

AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010
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 Operational risk 

Operational risk is inherent in each of the bank’s business and support activities, resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, human resources and systems or external events. 

DHB Bank pays the utmost attention to mitigating operational risk by maintaining a system of comprehensive 
internal policies and clear control procedures. The organizational framework of the bank and the segregation of 
duties between involved units and independent control mechanisms are designed to provide a sound and well-
controlled operational environment. An active business continuity plan is in place and focuses on iT-related risks 
in the management of operational risk, and ensures a continuous workflow under probable disruptions.

As part of the continuous efforts to improve its operational risk management, the bank continued its Operational 
Risk & Control Assessment Program in 2010. The project adopted a structured approach based on a risk and self-
assessment control methodology. The goal of the ongoing self-assessment process is for each business to identify 
the key operational risks specific to its environment and evaluate the degree to which it maintains appropriate 
controls. Action plans are developed for identified issues, enabling the bank to improve its existing control meas-
ures and implement new measures where necessary.

 Legal, compliance and reputation risk

Legal risk is the possibility that lawsuits, adverse judgments or contracts that turn out to be unenforceable can 
disrupt or adversely affect the operations of the bank. The Legal Affairs Department manages legal risks centrally. 
External legal advisors are also consulted where necessary. In addition, the Compliance Officer has a proactive role 
in this respect, aiming at reducing the compliance risk, and eventual reputation risk.

The reputation risk management framework is embedded in the policy and governance structure of the bank. At-
tention to reputation has always been a key aspect of the bank’s practices, and maintenance of the bank’s reputa-
tion is regarded as a responsibility of all staff members of the bank. The Managing Board takes necessary actions 
to establish a proper ethical culture within the bank. The bank’s line management is responsible for applying, 
monitoring and controlling the integrity policy and rules in their units, and reports to the Managing Board, and 
to the Compliance Officer where applicable. In addition to the Compliance Officer, the Internal Audit Department 
also evaluates integrity issues during its regular and specific audits.
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 (in thousands of EUR) 2010 2009

ASSETS    
Cash and balances with central banks  26,849 242,036
Financial assets held for trading  5,431 8,191
Available for sale financial assets 393,297 249,994
Securities held to maturity 115,409 230,142
Loans and receivables – banks  888,686 597,973
Loans and receivables – customers  338,523 584,622
investments 17,705 18,440
Property and equipment  14,283 14,996
intangible assets 27 29
Current tax assets 4,857 2,960
Deferred tax assets 1,442 2,009
Other assets  1,913 1,543
  Total assets 1,808,422 1,952,935 
   
LIABILITIES    
Due to banks  163,962 9,755
Financial liabilities held for trading 17,991 20,773
Deposits from customers  1,408,753 1,697,231
Provisions 3,070 5,513
Current tax liabilities – 259
Deferred tax liabilities 1,840 1,779
Other liabilities  20,426 21,545
  Total liabilities 1,616,042 1,756,855 
   
EQUITY   
Share capital  113,445 113,445
Retained earnings  82,721 77,855
Other reserves (3,786) 4,780
Total equity 192,380 196,080
   
  Total equity and liabilities  1,808,422 1,952,935 
   
Commitments and contingent liabilities 11,304 18,036

Company statement of financial position
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AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010

suMMARy of significAnt Accounting policies

 Basis of pRepaRation

  The company financial statements of Demir-Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V. have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles in The Netherlands as embodied in Part 9 of Book 2 of The Netherlands Civil Code. Based on 
article 2:362.8 of The Netherlands Civil Code, the valuation principles applied are based on international Financial 
Reporting Standards (iFRS), as used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the bank.

   The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the bank, using consist-
ent accounting policies. 

  The principles of valuation and determination of results stated in connection with the consolidated balance sheet 
and income statement are also applicable to the company balance sheet and income statement with the excep-
tion of investments in group companies which are initially recognized at cost.

 investMents

 investments of DHB Bank in subsidiaries are stated at its net asset value, determined on the basis of EU-iFRS. 

  DHB Bank acquired 66.56% of EC Bank shares at August 31, 2008 and recognized these shares as investments. Ad-
ditionally, by the time of the acquisition of majority shares of EC Bank in Macedonia, DHB Bank has signed a ‘Put 
and Call Option Agreement’ with European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) in respect to EBRD’s 
remaining 25% share in EC Bank. 

  According to EU-iFRS, if a put option granted to the minority shareholders provides for settlement in cash or in 
another financial asset by the entity then the entity should recognize a liability for the present value of the exer-
cise price of the option and therefore recognize the additional shares in the subsidiary. DHB Bank recognized its 
financial liabilities regarding the put option of EBRD for EC Bank shares in accordance with EU-iFRS and the 25% 
shares of EBRD starting from the date of the initial transaction, which increased its share in EC Bank to 91.56%.  For 
its company balance sheet DHB Bank used a consistent approach and recognized 91.56 % of EC Bank shares as its 
investment.

Notes to the company financial statements

 (in thousands of EUR) 2010 2009

Net income of the parent company  5,182 9,731
Net income participating interests after taxes  (1,094) (911)
Net income  4,088 8,820 

Company income statement
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fiRst tiMe Adoption of ifRs 

  The group companies have applied iFRS 1 ‘First Time Adoption of international Financial Reporting Standards’, in 
preparing these separate financial statements. The transition date is January 1, 2009 and an opening iFRS balance 
sheet has been prepared as of that date.

  Participating interests in group companies consist of DHB Hypotheken & Verzekeringen B.V., Best CreditLine B.V., 
Maaslust 9 Monumenten B.V. and Best Properties B.V. and the company Stichting Bewaarfonds in The Netherlands 
and EC Bank in Macedonia.

 2010 2009
Participating interests in group companies
Development:  
Opening balance 18,440 19,039
•  Capital investment 383 338
•  Capital divestment (7) –
•  Exchange rate movement  (17) (26)
•  Net profit subsidiaries (1,094) (911)
Closing balance 17,705 18,440

  DHB Bank guarantees all liabilities of DHB Hypotheken & Verzekeringen B.V., Best CreditLine B.V., Maaslust 9 Mon-
umenten B.V., Best Properties B.V. and the company Stichting Bewaarfonds by giving a 403 declaration. 

  Rotterdam, March 31, 2011

Supervisory Board: Managing Board:

Theodoor Joseph Bark (Chairman since December 17, 2010) Kayhan Acardağ
Mehmet Emin Özcan (since June 1, 2010)  Abram Rutgers
Dr. Nurzahit Keskin
Drs. Jan Th. Groosmuller
İsmail Hasan Akçakayalıoğlu
Hans J.Ph.Risch
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AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n finAnciAl stAteMents foR tHe yeAR 2010

pRofit AppRopRiAtion

The profit appropriation has been proposed in conformity with article 21 of the Articles of Association, which states:

1. The company may make distributions to the shareholders and other persons entitled to the distributable profits only to the 
extent that the company’s shareholders’ equity exceeds the paid-up and called-up part of the company’s capital, plus the 
reserves which must be maintained under the law.

2. The profits evidenced by the profit and loss accounts adopted by the general meeting of shareholders shall be at the disposal 
of the general meeting of shareholders.

3. The management may resolve to distribute an interim dividend against the dividend to be expected in respect of the 
financial year concerned, if the requirement of paragraph 1 has been met and this is evidenced by an interim net equity 
statement, showing the position of the own equity on, at the earliest, the first day of the third month prior to the month in 
which the resolution to make a distribution is announced.

4. There shall be no distribution of profits in favor of the company on the shares of depositary receipts issued therefore which 
the company has acquired in its own capital.

5. in computing the distribution of profits, the shares or depositary receipts issued therefore on which no distribution shall be 
made in favor of the company in pursuance of the provisions of paragraph 4 above, shall be disregarded.

6. The right to receive dividend shall be precluded by the lapse of five years, to be calculated from the day on which such a 
distribution became payable.

Prior to approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board proposes that the net profit of 4,088 be distributed as 
follows:

Dividend –

Addition to the ‘retained earnings’ 4,088

4,088

Other Information
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To the Supervisory Board and Shareholders of Demir-
Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V.

RepoRt on tHe finAnciAl stAteMents

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 
2010 of Demir-Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V., Rotterdam. 
The financial statements include the consolidated 
financial statements and the company financial 
statements. The consolidated financial statements 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2010, the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising  a summary of the significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. The 
company financial statements comprise the company 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2010, the company 
profit and loss account for the year then ended and the 
notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

 ManaGeMent’s ResponsiBility 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with international Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 
2 of The Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation 
of the management board report in accordance with Part 
9 of Book 2 of The Netherlands Civil Code. Furthermore, 
management is responsible for such internal control 
as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Independent 
auditor’s report

 auditoR’s ResponsiBility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including 
the Dutch Standards on Auditing. This requires that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

 opinion with Respect to the consolidated financial stateMents 

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of Demir-
Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V. as at 31 December 2010 and 

 AnnuAl RepoRt 2010 n otHeR infoRMAtion n AuditoR’s RepoRt
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of its result and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 
of The Netherlands Civil Code.

 opinion with Respect to the coMpany financial stateMents 

in our opinion, the company financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of Demir-Halk 
Bank (Nederland) N.V. as at 31 December 2010 and of its 
result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 
of Book 2 of The Netherlands Civil Code.

RepoRt on otHeR legAl And 
RegulAtoRy RequiReMents

Pursuant to the legal requirements under Section 2:393 
sub 5 at e and f of The Netherlands Civil Code, we have 
no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination 
whether the management board report, to the extent we 
can assess, has been prepared in accordance with part 9 
of Book 2 of this Code, and if the information as required 
under Section 2:392 sub 1 at b - h has been annexed. 
Further, we report that the management board report, to 
the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial 
statements as required by Section 2:391 sub 4 of The 
Netherlands Civil Code.

Amstelveen, April 1, 2011

KPMG ACCOUNTANTS N.V.
M. Frikkee RA
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